
Nimish Patel, Committee Chair 
Sue Himmelrich, Committee Vice-Chair 
Frances Ellington, Committee Member 

Pam O’Connor, Committee Member 
Tony Vazquez, Committee Member 

 
 

AUDIT SUBCOMMITTEE REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
Tuesday, October 18, 2016, 7:00 P.M. 

Ken Edwards Center 
1527 4th Street, Room 104 
Santa Monica, CA 90401 

 
(Please note that agenda items may be reordered during the meeting at the 
discretion of the Audit Subcommittee.) 

 
1. Call to Order and Roll Call  

 
2. Public Input (public comment is permitted on items on the agenda and on items not 

on the agenda that are within the subject matter jurisdiction of the Audit 
Subcommittee) 

 
3. Approval of Minutes for the Audit Subcommittee April 19, 2016 Meeting 

 

4. Receive an Update from the City’s External Auditor on the Role of the External Auditor 
in Detecting Fraud and Lessons Learned from the Placentia Fraud (presented by Rich 
Kikuchi, Partner, LSL, Inc.) 

 

5. Receive an Update on the Status of the FY 2015/16 Audit from the City’s External 
Auditor (presented by Rich Kikuchi, Partner, LSL, Inc.) 

 
6. Receive Internal Audit Reports on Ambulance Billing (including reply from Americare) 

and Validation of Policies & Procedures (presented by Mark Steranka, Partner, Moss 
Adams LLP)  
 

7. Receive an Update on Internal Controls Review Progress (presented by Gigi 
Decavalles-Hughes, Director of Finance)  
 

8. Receive an Update on Internal Audit Work Plan, including progress to date on 
Enterprise Risk Assessment, Benefits Billing, and Cash Handling (presented by Mark 
Steranka, Partner, Moss Adams LLP)  

 

9. Adjournment  
 
Please note that this agenda is subject to change up to 72 hours prior to the 
scheduled meeting. We encourage you to check the agenda 72 hours prior to the 



meeting on the Audit Subcommittee website: 
http://www.smgov.net/departments/council/content.aspx?id=53159 
 
 
STANDARDS OF BEHAVIOR THAT PROMOTE CIVILITY AT ALL PUBLIC 
MEETINGS: 

 Treat everyone courteously 
 Listen to others respectfully 
 Exercise self‐control 
 Give open‐minded consideration to all viewpoints 
 Focus on the issues and avoid personalizing debate 
 Embrace respectful disagreement and dissent as democratic rights, inherent 

components of inclusive public process, and tools for forging sound decisions 

 
Ken Edwards Center is wheelchair accessible. If you require any special disability related 
accommodations (i.e. sign language interpreting, access to an amplified sound system, 
etc.), please contact the Finance Department at (310) 458-8281 or TDD: (310) 458-8696 
at least 3 days prior to the scheduled meeting.  
 
This agenda is available in alternate format upon request. Any documents produced by 
the City and distributed to a majority of the Subcommittee regarding any item on this 
agenda can be requested from the Finance Department at (310) 458-8281 or 
finance.mailbox@smgov.net during normal business hours.  
 



Agenda Item 3: 

 

Approval of the Minutes for the Audit Subcommittee 

April 19, 2016 Meeting 



 

 1 April 19, 2016 

(NOT APPROVED) 
 

CITY OF SANTA MONICA 
 

AUDIT SUBCOMMITTEE MEETING 
 

 MINUTES 
 

TUESDAY, APRIL 19, 2016 
 
A regular meeting of the Santa Monica Audit Subcommittee was called to order by Chair Patel, at 7:05 
p.m., on Tuesday, April 19, 2016, at Ken Edwards Center, 1527 Fourth Street, Santa Monica, CA 90401 
 
Roll Call: Present: Committee Member Frances Ellington  
  Vice Chair Sue Himmelrich 
  Committee Member Tony Vazquez 
  Chair Member Nimish Patel 
  
 Absent: Committee Member Pam O’Connor 
  

 Also Present: Director of Finance Gigi Decavalles-Hughes 
  Assistant City Manager Elaine Polachek 

City Attorney Marsha Moutrie 
City Clerk Denise Anderson-Warren 

 
CONVENE 
 

On order of Chair, the Audit Subcommittee convened at 7:05 p.m., with 
Committee Member O’Connor absent. 

  
PUBLIC INPUT There were no members of the public present. 
  
MINUTES 3.  Approval of Minutes for the Audit Subcommittee January 19, 2016 

Meeting, were presented. 
 
There were no members of the public present. 
 
Motion by Vice Chair Himmelrich, seconded by Committee Member 
Ellington, to approve the minutes as presented.  The motion was approved 
by the following vote: 
 
AYES:        Committee Member Ellington, Vice Chair Himmelrich,  
                    Chair Patel 
ABSTAIN: Committee Member Vazquez 
ABSENT:   Committee Member O’Connor 

  
INTERNAL AUDIT 
WORK PLANS 

4.  Receive a Status Update on the FY 2015-16 Internal Audit Work 
Plan, and Review and Approval of the FY 2016-17 Internal Audit 
Work Plan (Subcommittee Report) – presented by Mark Steranka, Partner, 
Moss Adams LLP, was presented. 
 



 

 2 April 19, 2016 

There were no members of the public present. 
 
Mr. Steranka reported that his company, who are responsible for the 
internal audit, also helped with the external audit in a minimal way, as 
requested, and was an advisor for reconciliation.  The areas covered were: 
 

 Bank Reconciliation Support 
 External Audit Preparation Support 
 Ambulance Billing Review 

 Benefits Billing and Reconciliation Review 

 On-going Internal Audit Services 

 
Questions were raised about the timing of the Subcommittee’s next meeting 
in October, and the importance of reviewing the progress on the 2015-16 
Single Audit report prior to submitting the report to the Federal 
Government.  Members agreed that they would receive an overview of the 
report in January, rather than review the draft.  Direction was given to staff 
to create a fourth meeting and call a Special Meeting in August or 
September.  Direction was also given to staff to provide clarification on the 
roles and responsibilities of the Subcommittee members at the next 
meeting. 
 
Questions were asked and answered from staff regarding: if the benefit 
reviews were specifically concentrating on paying benefits for deceased; 
concerns about the Ethics hotline, and accountability for complaints being 
filed (the Assistant City Manager noted that metrics on the Ethics hotline 
would be provided to Council); the timing of the Risk Assessment (to be 
completed in October 2016); whether Risk Assessment questions are 
specific and who will be interviewed (Department Heads, Council, mid-
management); Supervisor training, how this will be accomplished, and 
what areas will be covered (Supervisor handbook and training in September 
2016); and whether there is enough staffing to complete the Risk 
Assessment in the scheduled timeframe. 
 
Motion by Vice Chair Himmelrich, seconded by Committee Member 
Vazquez, to receive and file the status update on the Internal Audit Work 
Plan for FY 2015-16, and approve the Internal Audit Work Plan for FY 
2016-17.  The motion was unanimously approved by voice vote, with 
Committee Member O’Connor absent. 

  
SINGLE AUDIT 
REPORTS 

5.  Receive the Revised Single Audit Report for FY 2013-14 and the Single 
Audit Report for FY 2014-15 – presented by Gigi Decavalles-Hughes, 
Director of Finance. 
 
There were no members of the public present. 
 
The Finance Director gave an overview of the report. 
 
 



 

 3 April 19, 2016 

Questions were asked and answered from staff regarding why the 2013/14 
report was reissued, and when old findings fall off.  There was an 
outstanding finding, and Finance has hired an Analyst specifically for 
Grants to make sure reconciliations and completed projects are captured. 
 
Motion by Vice Himmelrich, seconded by Committee Member Vazquez, to 
receive and file the Revised Single Audit Report for FY 2013-14, and the 
Single Audit Report for FY 2014-15.  The motion was unanimously 
approved by voice vote, with all members present, or with Committee 
Member O’Connor absent. 

  
NEW AUDITOR  6.  Introduction and Overview of Upcoming FY 2015-16 Audit Process 

– presented by Richard Kikuchi, Partner, Lance, Soll & Lunghard, 
LLP, was presented. 
 
There were no members of the public present. 
 
Richard Kikuchi presented the processes they are currently going through 
in preparation for the upcoming FY2015-16 audit, which included meeting 
with the previous Auditor and Big Blue Bus; Reviewed the Single Audit 
and the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR). The areas they 
plan to cover include: Airport Analysis and revenues generated; Big Blue 
Bus inventory issues; Good internal controls of cash and credit card usage; 
Best practices; and schedule Executive Sessions at the beginning of the 
planning stages. 
 
Questions were asked about materially, what and when will they come back 
and report to the committee, and render an opinion on the City’s financial 
state. 
 
Motion by Vice Chair Himmelrich, seconded by Committee Member 
Vazquez, to receive and file the Overview of the Upcoming FY 2015-16 
Audit Process.  The motion was unanimously approved by voice vote, with 
all members present, or with Committee Member O’Connor absent. 

  
ANNOUNCEMENTS & 
UPDATES 

There were no announcements or updates. 

  
ADJOURNMENT On order of the Chair, the Santa Monica Audit Subcommittee meeting was 

adjourned at 8:27 p.m. 
 
ATTEST:     APPROVED: 
 
 
Denise Anderson-Warren   Nimish Patel 
City Clerk Chair 

 



Agenda Item 6a: 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing 

Review ‐ Final Report 10‐12‐16  



 

October 12, 2016 

Prepared by: 

Moss Adams LLP 

 
999 Third Avenue 

Suite 2800 
Seattle, WA 98104 

(206) 302-6500

FINAL REPORT FOR 

CITY OF SANTA MONICA 

AMBULANCE CONTRACT BILLING REVIEW 



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | i 

 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

I. OVERVIEW 1 

A. BACKGROUND 1 

B. METHODOLOGY 4 

C. SUMMARY OF RESULTS 5 

II. GENERAL RECORDKEEPING 8 

A. METHODOLOGY 8 

B. RESULTS, FINDINGS, AND RECOMMENDATIONS 8 

III. BILLING: CORE SERVICES 11 

A. BACKGROUND 11 

B. FEES PAYABLE TO THE CITY 12 

C. FEES PAYABLE TO THE CONTRACTOR 13 

D. METHODOLOGY 15 

E. RESULTS, FINDINGS, AND RECOMMENDATIONS 15 

IV. BILLING: SPECIAL CHARGES 23 

A. BACKGROUND 23 

B. METHODOLOGY 24 

C. RESULTS, FINDINGS, AND RECOMMENDATIONS 24 

V. REVENUE COLLECTION 38 

A. METHODOLOGY 38 

B. RESULTS, FINDINGS, AND RECOMMENDATIONS 38 

 



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 1 

I. OVERVIEW 
As part of the City of Santa Monica’s internal audit work plan, the City requested an internal audit 
engagement of the service contract with its ambulance billing services provider, AmeriCare (the 
Contractor). The engagement took place between December 2015 and July 2016.  

The engagement included the following objectives:  

• Assess the overall compliance and effectiveness of the Contractor’s ambulance billing and 
collections for services and fees for all ambulance calls;  

• Assess the completeness, accuracy, and timeliness of the Contractor’s remittance of payment to the 
City for services and fees;  

• Assess compliance with contract requirements regarding aging accounts and collections process;  

• Assess the completeness, accuracy, and timeliness of the Contractor’s remittance to the City of 
payments recovered through Collections; and  

• Review the City’s monitoring and reconciliation practices.  

We conducted this review under the consultancy standards of the American Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants (AICPA). As such, this work was not an audit of internal controls or compliance that 
resulted in a formal opinion or other form of assurance. The specific methods used for testing controls 
over cash assets are presented in the Methodology sections. Moss Adams would like to thank the staff of 
the Fire Department, the Finance Department, and the Contractor for their cooperation and assistance 
during our review.  

A. BACKGROUND 

The City of Santa Monica has a contract with the Contractor for ambulance operator services, as well as 
ambulance billing services, which has been in place since August 2011. Within the City, the Fire 
Department responds to all 911 calls that are medical related. Immediately after the Fire Department is 
dispatched, the ambulance Contractor is dispatched. After assessing the nature of the medical situation, 
the Fire Department determines the appropriate course of action, which could include: 

• No transportation is required. 

• Transportation is medically advised but the patient refuses and signs Against Medical Advice 
(AMA). 

• The patient requires transportation with basic life support services (BLS). 

• The patient requires transportation with advanced life support services (ALS). 

Most patients that require transportation are transported in the Contractor’s ambulances. For BLS calls, 
the Contractor’s Emergency Medical Services (EMS) personnel provide basic life support care during 
transport. If ALS transport is required, the Fire Department paramedics ride in the ambulances to 
provide an advanced level of care.  



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 2 

Figure 1: Ambulance Call Volume by Year for the City 

Year Ambulance Calls 

2013 6,553 

2014 5,290 

2015 4,540 

Total 16,383 

As outlined in the City’s contract, the Contractor bills patients for all ambulance calls, except those that 
do not require transportation. The Contractor bills and collects revenue for its own services, as well as 
for some of the services provided by the Fire Department.  

For BLS calls, the Contractor issues an invoice and collects revenue for its services and ambulance 
transportation. Depending on the type of medical care provided, the Contractor is supposed to issue an 
invoice on behalf of the City for the ALS services provided. For most ALS calls, the Contractor issues two 
invoices. One invoice is issued on behalf of the City for the medical care provided by City paramedics and 
presence during transportation. The Contractor collects this revenue and remits it to the City. Another 
invoice is issued and collected by the Contractor for its own services and ambulance transportation.  

Figure 2: Ambulance Revenue to City by Year 

Year Revenue Received by City 

2013 $856,736 

2014 $967,780 

2015 $989,520 

Total $2,814,036 

 

Figure 3: City of Santa Monica’s Ambulance Revenue to Contractor by Year 

Year Revenue Received by Contractor 

2013 $2,236,072 

2014 $2,626,190 

2015 $2,679,425 

Total $7,541,687 



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 3 

Los Angeles (LA) County regulates rates and charges for ambulance transport as well as other services, 
treatments, and supplies used during the course of ambulance calls. As specified within the City of Santa 
Monica’s contract with the Contractor, charges shall be calculated and billed in accordance with the 
County’s regulations. The rate schedule used for preparing the bills in our sample is provided below. As 
of July 1, 2016, these rates and the list of charges have been updated. 

Figure 4: Ambulance Rate Schedule  

Rate Schedule 
LA County FY 15-16 

Maximum Rates 

ALS: Response to call with equipment and personnel at an ALS level $1,561.00 

BLS: Response to call with equipment and personnel at a BLS level $1,012.75 

Code 3: Used during response or transport, per incident $126.75 

Code 2: Used during response or transport, per incident $50.00 

Mileage Rate: Each mile or fraction thereof $18.50 

Special Charges 

Night Call: Request for service after 7:00 p.m. and before 7:00 a.m. of the next day 
will be subject to an additional maximum charge 

$82.25 

Oxygen: Persons requiring oxygen shall be subject to an additional maximum 
charge per tank or fraction thereof 

$63.75 

Backboard, splints, KED $49.75 

Traction splints $90.00 

Ice packs $26.50 

Bandages, dressings $26.50 

Oxygen cannula/mask $26.50 

Cervical collar $44.75 

Burn kit $48.75 

Pulse oximeter $86.00 

Automated external defibrillator (AED) $86.00 

Continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP) $86.00 

Note: This list does not include all of the special charges within LA County’s Rates. We omitted services that 
were not indicated as performed in any of the calls in our sample.  

AmeriCare indicated that, if performed, they would not bill for certain excluded services. Excluded 
services include Waiting Time, Standby Time, Transport Non-Company Staff, Neonatal Transport, 
Respiratory Therapist, Nurse Critical Care Transport, Infusion Pump, Obstetrical Kit, and Volume 
Ventilator.  



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 4 

In addition to the fees for BLS and ALS transport, mileage, pulse oximeter, CPAP, and oxygen, there is a 
$12 medical supply fee applied to all ambulance calls that the Contractor deposits into a City account.  

B. METHODOLOGY 

To evaluate ambulance billing and revenue collection, our methodology encompassed:  

• Performing interviews with personnel from the City’s Fire Department and Finance Department, as 
well as the Contractor’s Chief Finance Officer. 

• Reviewing a variety of documentation, including: 

o Current ambulance contract with modifications 

o LA County’s ambulance rates, effective July 1, 2015 

o LA County’s ambulance rates, effective July 1, 2016 

o Revenue collections information for July 1, 2015 to September 30, 2015 from the City and the 
Contractor  

o Activity reports from the City Fire Department’s EMBRS Fire Records Management System  

o Accounts Receivable (AR) aging information for July 1, 2015 to September 30, 2015 from 
AmeriCare 

o An example of the Contractor’s monthly activity summary, trip detail, aging AR summary, and 
collections activity 

o For selected calls, City patient care record (PCR) forms and the Contractor’s PCR forms 

o For selected ambulance calls, City invoices, billing records and billing narratives 

o For selected ambulance calls, Contractor’s invoices, billing records, and billing narratives 

• Selecting a stratified random sample of ambulance calls that occurred between July 1, 2015 and 
September 30, 2015. 

o To ensure that we selected and reviewed a cross-section of all calls, we selected samples by 
different types of calls. Because ALS transports result in billing for the City, the majority of 
our sample is made up of these calls.  

 Sample Population 

ALS Transport 60 789 

BLS Transport 25 1,065 

No Transport 15 479 

No Transport Listed 5 142 

Total 105 2,4751 

                                                                 
1 From July 1, 2015 to September 30, 2015, there were a total of 2476 calls.  This includes one call categorized 
as an “Intra Facility Transfer.” 



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 5 

o While we originally selected 15 calls that resulted in no transport, we discontinued our 
review of these calls because no billing is performed when no transport occurs, thereby 
limiting the testing we could perform. Of the five calls with no transport listed, we 
discontinued our review of two of these calls after determining that no transport resulted 
from these calls. 

o Throughout this report, we used a total sample size of 88 calls (60 ALS Transports, 25 BLS 
Transports, 3 No Transport Listed). In certain cases, complete information was not available 
and we noted the number of calls used.  

• Testing sampled selection to assess the timeliness, completeness, and accuracy of billings and 
collections performed by the Contractor.  

C. SUMMARY OF RESULTS 

From our review, we were able to identify a number of issues that are pertinent to the City and its 
management related to current ambulance billing practices, as well as opportunities for changes in the 
future. During the course of conducting this review, the ambulance rate schedule set forth by LA County 
changed and numerous itemized charges were eliminated. The application of these itemized charges 
related to a number of findings described within this report. While the elimination of these charges 
removed the risk of these issues occurring in the future, underlying issues related to recordkeeping, 
billing, and monitoring practices will continue to be relevant. 

Many of the billing issues we identified are associated with a relatively low dollar value. However, the 
City has a responsibility to adequately manage its contract and associated legal risks, such as the 
appropriate billing for services. Additionally, we identified a variety of issues related to the accurate 
recording of gross fees. In particular, any time that gross fees are not recorded accurately, the 
Contractor’s financial records no longer represent an accurate portrayal of the City’s ambulance service 
and gross fees associated with it. Without this information accurately recorded, the City’s ability to make 
projections is impaired.   

The City is currently in the last year of its contract for ambulance services. As such, the City will soon 
have the opportunity to draft a new contract. With this new contract, the City can incorporate additional 
requirements for its Contractor, such as increased monitoring and additional performance 
requirements. 

We identified a number of opportunities for improvement that can be addressed through actions by the 
City and/or its Contractor. The primary types of actions include:  

• The City should incorporate additional language in future contracts to create clearer expectations 
for billing practices, revenue collection, reporting, and monitoring.  

• The Contractor should implement process improvements regarding recordkeeping, billing, and 
revenue collection.  

• The Contractor should provide enhanced reporting to the City’s Fire and Finance Departments.  

• The City should perform additional ongoing monitoring of billing practices and revenue collection. 



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 6 

• The City should consider reviewing past billings to identify inaccurate or inappropriately applied 
fees that would require refunds by the City or Contractor. 

In total, we identified 28 findings (opportunities for improvement). Findings are listed below by area of 
focus, which include general recordkeeping, billing for core services, billing for special charges, and 
revenue collection.  

General Recordkeeping 

1. Inconsistencies exist in the basic recordkeeping related to ambulance calls. 

 

Billing for Core Services 

2. Not all fees charged for ambulance services were consistent with the applicable county rates as required by 
the City’s contract with the Contractor. 

3. The County’s new ambulance rates, and current revenue sharing model, will yield less revenue for the City 
than in the prior FY. 

 

Billing for Special Services 

4. Billing for pulse oxygen service was inconsistent. 

5. Inconsistencies were noted in the oxygen service recordkeeping.  

6. The Contractor did not charge patients for all oxygen services delivered. 

7. Not all charges for oxygen were consistent with the County’s maximum established rates. 

8. There are inconsistencies in the records related to additional treatments. 

9. The Contractor did not fully bill for all additional treatments, creating lost potential revenue for the 
Contractor and the City. 

10. Not all fees charged for night service were accurate. 

11. The Contractor’s practices regarding the billing of night calls are inconsistent. 

12. The Contractor’s practices for charging fees for Code 3 responses may not be consistent with the intent of 
the County’s rate schedule. 

13. Documentation regarding the type of transport provided, if any, was not complete for all calls. 

14. Some calls were charged mileage rates in excess of those established by the County. 



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 7 

Billing for Special Services 

15. There are inconsistencies in the number of miles recorded and the number of miles billed. 

16. Problems with mileage recordkeeping and billing may have a compounding impact when coupled with 
errors in rates applied and discrepancies in addresses. 

 

Revenue Collection 

17. Lack of clarity about certain billing practices for the City creates uncertainty about the revenue due, 
thereby limiting accountability and full revenue collection from the Contractor. 

18. Inconsistencies in the timing of billing activities may negatively impact revenue collection for the City. 

19. Some of the Contractor’s accounting practices may compromise the overall accuracy of the City’s 
ambulance operations records. 

20. Current practices do not provide maximum assurance that all revenue will be distributed appropriately to 
the City. 

21. The Contractor’s practices regarding referral to collections are inconsistent. 

22. Limited reporting is provided to the City about collections activities. 

23. Payments to the City are delayed longer than payments to the Contractor. 

24. There is a lag time between the date the Contractor prepares its deposit slips and the date it makes the 
bank deposit. 

25. The Contractor’s current processes for processing check payments for the City results in revenue 
realization delays. 

26. The current processes for processing credit card payments for the City results in revenue realization 
delays. 

27. Although the Finance Department has recently developed a process for reconciling revenue collection, it 
has not yet been institutionalized. 

28. Current billing practices may not maximize the City’s ability to capture revenue for its ambulance services.  

 



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 8 

II. GENERAL RECORDKEEPING 

A. METHODOLOGY 

To assess the accuracy of recordkeeping for our selected sample of 88 ambulance calls, we compared a 
variety of data points, including identifying numbers, addresses, and transport method, to determine if 
they were recorded consistently between data sources. Specifically, we compared the following data 
points: 

• Preprinted sequence number on the City’s PCR form to the Contractor’s PCR form (corresponding 
number should be handwritten) 

• Incident address listed on the City’s PCR, Contractor’s PCR, and invoices issued 

• Drop-off address listed on the City’s PCR, Contractor’s PCR, and invoices 

• Transport method on the City’s PCR, Contractor’s PCR, and City’s FireMedPro data 

B. RESULTS, FINDINGS, AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. Finding: Inconsistencies exist in the basic recordkeeping related to ambulance calls.  

Based on our testing, we found discrepancies in some of the basic information recorded for 
ambulance calls. We found issues related to the sequence numbers or unique identifying number, 
incident address and drop-off address, and the transport method. Discrepancies with any of these 
data points can result in incorrect records, billings, and payments.  

The sequence number is a unique number preprinted on the City’s PCR form. It should be written on 
the Contractor’s corresponding PCR form to ensure that incidents are identified appropriately. We 
compared the City’s PCR form to the Contractor’s PCR form. Of the 88 records we compared, we 
found 13 discrepancies. Of these 13 discrepancies, we found nine instances where a sequence 
number was not legible. However, these legibility issues may be related to scanning issues. The 
remaining four discrepancies included three instances where no sequence number was included and 
one instance where the sequence number written on the Contractor’s PCR form was incorrect. 
Without the correct sequence number, it is more difficult to maintain complete records for both the 
City and the Contractor related to ambulance calls.  

The location of incidents and where patients are dropped off are recorded on the City’s PCR, 
Contractor’s PCR, and the invoices issued. These addresses are used to calculate mileage charges 
that are included on invoices. We compared the incident address listed on the City’s PCR, 
Contractor’s PCR, and invoices. Of the 85 records we reviewed with complete information available, 
we found 10 discrepancies in the incident addresses.2 In nine instances, the incident address did not 

                                                                 
2 While our complete sample size was 88 for this test, we only had complete information for 85 records 
including PCRs and bills for both the City and the Contractor.  As a result, we used 85 records for this aspect 
of our review. 



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 9 

match between the City’s PCR, Contractor’s PCR, and invoice issued. In one instance, the City’s PCR 
was missing an incident address. We also found differences in how the same location was noted. 
Specifically, we found three instances in which the same location was noted differently for the 
incident address. For example, we found that a facility’s name may have been noted on the invoice, 
but the actual address was noted on the PCRs.  

Similarly, we compared the drop-off address listed on the City’s PCR, Contractor’s PCR, and invoices 
issued. Of the 85 records we reviewed with complete information available, we found three 
discrepancies in the drop-off address. In these three instances, the invoice issued on behalf of the 
City showed the incident address as the drop-off address. Issues regarding addresses may lead to 
billing errors given their role in calculating mileage charges. 

We noted inaccuracies in the transport method, which can have a variety of consequences. There are 
two types of ambulance transport: BLS and ALS. We compared the City’s PCR to Contractor’s PCR 
and the City’s FireMedPro data. Of the 88 records we reviewed, we found 26 discrepancies related to 
the transport method. These discrepancies included transport type missing from the FireMedPro 
and/or PCR form and disagreement between transport type recorded on the PCR form and 
FireMedPro data. Without an accurate record of its transport activities in FireMedPro, the City does 
not have adequate information for ongoing billing and revenue monitoring. While the Contractor 
bills for both types of transport, in accordance with the City’s contract the Contractor bills on the 
City’s behalf for all ALS transports, but only some of the BLS transports, depending on the 
interventions performed. However, as we address in our billing analysis, BLS transports are also 
important for the City to monitor, particularly because some of these transports generate revenue as 
well. Therefore, discrepancies in the type of transport can hinder the City’s ability to monitor its 
activities and associated revenue.  

Upon inquiry, we determined that these discrepancies have a variety of causes. Beyond human 
error, we found that scanning issues also contributed to some of the issues we observed, For 
example, some sequence numbers were not legible due to issues with scanning the PCRs. Similarly, 
the City explained that FireMedPro may not have a transport method listed due to poor scanning 
quality. Additionally, we found inconsistencies in how addresses were listed. Some incident 
addresses were referenced by facility name on an invoice, while others were referenced by street 
address. This lack of standardization could lead to unnecessary confusion. The discrepancies in the 
City’s PCR forms will likely be reduced with the City’s recent implementation of electronic PCRs as of 
August 1, 2016. However, the Contractor continues to use paper PCR forms.  

Recommendations: 

• The City should continue with the implementation of electronic PCRs. As part of the 
implementation process, the City should evaluate how this technology can help address issues 
of legibility and completeness.  In developing a new contract, the City should consider requiring 
Contractors to use electronic PCRs.  



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 10 

• As part of ongoing monitoring efforts, the Fire Department should implement an administrative 
quality assurance review of documentation. These reviews should assess completeness, 
legibility, and accuracy. For example, as part of other periodic tasks, review monthly ambulance 
calls to ensure that transport method is completed. 

• The Fire Department should train the Contractor’s field staff to ensure that ongoing 
improvements occur. The City should incorporate recordkeeping quality into future contract 
requirements.  

• The City should establish address standardization requirements, such as requiring all incident 
addresses to be recorded as street addresses rather than facility names, and communicate 
these requirements to City and Contractor EMS staff.  

 



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 11 

III. BILLING: CORE SERVICES 

A. BACKGROUND 

The contract between the City and the Contractor addresses the collection of fees, billing 
responsibilities, and revenue distribution. Based on the contract, the rates in invoices are not to exceed 
the most current published LA County Public Ambulance Rates. The County publishes the maximum 
allowable rates that can be charged by ambulance operators for the fiscal year.  

The Contractor bills charges using Contractor and City invoices. City invoices are sent out by the 
Contractor on the City’s behalf, and all associated revenue collected is remitted to the City. In the case of 
Medicare patients, the Contractor issues “bundled” bills—one bill that includes the services provided by 
both the Contractor and the City.   

The applicable rates for the calls in our sample are LA County’s FY 2015-16.  As shown in the table, there 
are some special charges set forth by the County that are typically not included on the Contractor or City 
invoice.  For example, even if a burn kit is used, it would not appear on either invoice. As of July 1, 2016, 
these rates and the list of charges have changed. 

Figure 5: Ambulance Rates and Associated Revenue Recipients 

 
LA County FY 15-16  

Maximum Rates 
Contractor 

Invoice 
City Invoice 

Rate Schedule 

ALS: Response to call with equipment and personnel 
at an ALS level 

$1561.00 No Yes 

BLS: Response to call with equipment and personnel 
at a BLS level 

$1012.75 Yes No 

Code 3: Used during response or transport, per 
incident 

$126.75 Yes3 Yes1 

Code 2: Used during response or transport, per 
incident 

$50.00 Yes No 

Mileage Rate: Each mile or fraction thereof $18.50 Yes No 

Special Charges 

Night Call: Request for service after 7:00 pm and 
before 7:00 am of the next day will be subject to an 
additional maximum charge 

$82.25 Yes No 

Oxygen: Persons requiring oxygen shall be subject to 
an additional maximum charge per tank or fraction 
thereof 

$63.75 Yes No 

Backboard, splints, KED $49.75 No No 

                                                                 
3 As discussed in Finding 12, the Code 3 charge should not be applied more than once per incident.   



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 12 

 
LA County FY 15-16  

Maximum Rates 
Contractor 

Invoice 
City Invoice 

Traction Splints $90.00 No No 

Ice Packs $26.50 No No 

Bandages, dressings $26.50 Yes No 

Oxygen cannula/mask $26.50 Yes No 

Cervical collar $44.75 No No 

Burn Kit $48.75 No No 

Pulse Oximeter $86.00 No Yes 

Automated external defibrillator (AED) $86.00 No No 

Continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP) $86.00 No Yes 

Note: This list does not include all of the special charges within LA County’s Rates. We omitted services that 
were not indicated as performed in any of the calls in our sample. 

AmeriCare indicated that, if performed, they would not bill for these excluded services. Excluded services 
include Waiting Time, Standby Time, Transport Non-Company Staff, Neonatal Transport, Respiratory Therapist, 
Nurse Critical Care Transport; Infusion Pump, Obstetrical Kit, and Volume Ventilator.  

B. FEES PAYABLE TO THE CITY 

In accordance with its contract with the City, the Contractor bills patients or their insurers, on behalf of 
the City, for the following services provided by the Fire Department: ALS, Pulse Oximeter, and Code 3, as 
well as the additional treatment of CPAP. The fee for ALS, which is also referred to as the ALSAF fee, 
represents the difference between the County’s fee for ALS service and BLS service.  

The Contractor is responsible for collecting these payments and remitting them to the City. For FY 2015-
16, the relevant rates for services reimbursable to the City are as follows: 



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 13 

Figure 6: City of Santa Monica – Services and Fees 

Services and Fees Payable to the City 

ALS4 $548.25 

Pulse Ox $86.00 

Code 3 $126.75 

CPAP $86.00 

In addition, there is a medical supplies reimbursement fee of $12 per patient that is not billed to the 
patient. Instead, the Contractor pays the City directly based on the total number of ALS and BLS calls. 
Based on these rates and the possible combination of standard charges, the bills generated on behalf of 
the City for a standard ALS call could be one of the following: 

Figure 7: City of Santa Monica – Standard Bill Amount 

Standard Bill Amount – City Invoice 

ALSAF (ALS Only) Code 3 Pulse Ox Total 

X   $548.25 

X  X $634.25 

X X  $675.00 

X X X $761.00 

Note: The City does not frequently utilize the CPAP. If this were utilized on a patient, then the 
total charges for service would increase by $86.00. 

C. FEES PAYABLE TO THE CONTRACTOR 

In accordance with its contract with the City, the Contractor bills patients or their insurers for the 
following services it provides: BLS, Code 2, Code 3, and Night Call. The Contractor is responsible for 
collecting these payments itself and retains all revenue collected. For FY 2015-16, the relevant rates for 
the Contractor’s services are the following: 

                                                                 
4 This is referred to as the ALSAF Fee.  It represents the difference between LA County’s FY 2015-16 rates for ALS and BLS 
levels of service.  



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 14 

Figure 8: Contractor – Services and Fees 

Services and Fees Payable to the Contractor 

BLS $1,012.75 

Code 2 $86.00 

Code 3 $126.75 

Night Call $82.25 

Based on these rates and the possible combination of standard charges, the bills generated by the 
Contractor on its own behalf for a standard BLS call could be one of the following: 

Figure 9: Contractor – Standard Bill Amount  

Standard Bill Amount – Contractor Invoice 

BLS Code 2 Code 3 Night Call Total 

X    $1,012.75 

X X   $1,062.75 

X  X  $1,139.50 

X   X $1,095.00 

X X  X $1,145.00 

X  X X $1,221.75 

Based on Medicare requirements, the Contractor only issues one invoice, or a bundled bill, for both its 
services and those of the City. The Contractor is responsible for remitting the City’s portion of payment 
to the City. In the case of Medicare, the City typically receives $75.47 for providing ALS services to 
Medicare patients. This amount is based on the total Medicare benefits paid out for ambulance 
transports and an agreement between the City and Contractor for divvying up payments.  



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 15 

Figure 10: City and Contractor – Standard Combined Bill Amount 

Standard Bill Amount – Combined Invoice 

BLS + ALSAF Code 2 Code 3 Night Call Total 

X    $1,561.00 

X   X $1,643.25 

X X   $1,611.00 

X X  X $1,693.25 

X  X  $1,687.75 

X  X X $1,770.00 

D. METHODOLOGY 

For the ambulance calls selected in our sample, we reviewed and compared the following information: 

• City PCR forms, City invoices, City billing screens, and billing narratives 

• Contractor PCR forms, Contractor invoices, Contractor billing screens, and billing narratives 

• Additional patient information as available, including hospital face sheets and insurance eligibility 
of benefits letters 

E. RESULTS, FINDINGS, AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

We reviewed the billing for 85 ambulance calls, including 60 ALS calls and 25 BLS calls. We reviewed 
bills issued by the Contractor for: 1) the Contractor’s portion of ambulance services, and 2) the City’s 
portion of ambulance. Also, we reviewed instances when bundled billing was performed, with one bill 
prepared to show the cost for services performed by both the Contractor and the City followed by a 
revenue split after payment was received.  

Based on our review, we found inconsistencies in the charges that were billed. Moreover, we found that 
the fees charged for ambulance services were not always consistent with LA County’s FY 2015-16 
ambulance rates. A summary of the invoices we tested is provided in the two figures below.  



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 16 

Figure 11: Contractor’s Invoices – Charges Billed  

Description & Rate Rate Count 

Consistent with FY 15-16 LA County Rates   

BLS + Code 2  $1,062.75 21 

BLS + Code 3  $1,139.50 25 

ALS + Code 2  $1,611.00 32 

Inconsistent with FY 15-16 LA County Rates   

SAMO BLS2, Night MCAL  $1,461.00 2 

SAMO BLS, Code 3  $1,174.50 3 

SAMO ALS1 M/M $1,660.50 2 

Figure 12: City Invoices – Charges Billed  

Description & Rate Rate Count 

Consistent with FY 15-16 LA County Rates 

SAMO ALSAF  $675 34 

SAMO ALSAF+ Pulse Ox $761 43 

Inconsistent with FY 15-16 LA County Rates 

SAMO ALSAF $696 1 

SAMO ALSAF+ Pulse Ox  $784.75 6 

<No Billing>  $0 1 

2. Finding: Not all fees charged for ambulance services were consistent with the applicable 
County rates as required by the City’s contract with AmeriCare. 

During our review of billing records for 85 ambulance calls, we found inaccuracies in the fees that 
were billed for services. These errors were found on the Contractor’s invoices, City invoices, and 
bundled invoices. We identified the different types of impacts of these errors: accounting, billing, 
and payment. The particular impact of these errors is multi-layered and varies by call.  

• Accounting: All billing errors for both ALS and BLS calls have an accounting impact because 
they affect the accuracy of the Contractor’s overall accounting records. For instance, any time 
gross fees are not recorded accurately, the Contractor’s financial records no longer represent 
an accurate portrayal of the City’s ambulance service and the gross fees associated with it. 



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 17 

• Billing: The impact of billing errors on patients or their insurers differs depending on their 
coverage. In particular, because Medicare and Medi-Cal pay certain amounts for different types 
of services, billing a higher dollar amount had no actual impact on the amount of money paid 
out by Medicare or Medi-Cal. In contrast, private payers or other insurance companies may 
have overpaid as a result of these errors as they pay based on bill amount. For example, in one 
instance, the City did not receive any payment for its service because no bill was issued.  

• Payment: For the billing errors where payment has not been received yet, errors can be 
corrected and invoices can be reissued. However, for instances where payment has already 
been received based on an incorrect bill, the Contractor and the City must issue refunds to 
correct overpayments. Additionally, incorrect billing caused incorrect amounts to be reported 
to the Collections agency. 

Of the Contractor’s billing records, we noted seven exceptions in which charges included on the 
Contractor’s invoices were inconsistent with FY 2015-16 LA County billing rates as indicated below. 
A “No” in the Contractor Paid column indicates that fees were not collected.  

Figure 13: Contractor’s Invoices – Exceptions Noted  

Sample (#) Charge 
Accounting Impact 

(Gross Fees) Billing Impact 
Payment 

Impact: City 
Payment Impact: 

Contractor 

(11) $1,174.50 Yes No (Medicare) N/A Yes 

(18) $1,660.50 Yes No (Medicare) Yes Yes 

(20) $1,660.50 Yes No (Medicare) Yes Yes 

(26) $,1461.00 Yes No (Medi-Cal) N/A Yes 

(37) $1,174.50 Yes Yes (Private Pay) N/A Yes – Credit Due 

(46) $1,174.50 Yes Yes (Insurance) N/A No 

(72) $,1461.00 Yes No (Medi-Cal) N/A Yes 

Of the City’s billing records we reviewed for 85 ambulance calls, we noted seven exceptions in which 
charges included on City invoices were inconsistent with FY 15-16 LA County billing rates, as 
indicated below.  



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 18 

Figure 14: City of Santa Monica Invoices – Exceptions Noted 

Sample 
(#) Charge 

Accounting Impact 
(Gross Fees) Billing Impact 

Payment 
Impact: City  

Payment Impact: 
Contractor  

(11) $784.75 Yes No (Medicare) Yes Yes 

(18) $784.75 Yes No (Medicare) Yes Yes 

(20) $784.75 Yes No (Medicare) Yes Yes 

(37) $784.75 Yes Yes (Private Pay) Yes – Credit Due Yes – Credit Due 

(46) $784.75 Yes Yes (Insurance) No No 

(72) $784.75 Yes No (Medi-Cal) No Yes 

(76) $696.00 Yes Yes (Private Pay) No – Collections No – Collections 

(79) $0.00 Yes Yes (Medicare) N/A N/A 

The majority of these errors were caused by the Contractor’s failure to update prior FY rates in a 
timely manner. Some invoices were prepared with the prior FY rates. However, each year the 
County published ambulance rates 30 days in advance of implementation. We also found some 
Medi-Cal specific rates that were not recently updated. The Contractor explained that because these 
charges will always be adjusted down through auto-contractual rates, these may receive less 
frequent attention. However, the overstatement of these charges still result in an overstatement of 
gross fees associated with ambulance services. Maintaining accurate records of gross fees is a 
critical element upon which the City will base projections such as the anticipated impact of changes 
in the payer mix.        

Recommendations:  

• The Contractor should immediately correct all inaccurate billings identified through this 
process, reissue invoices as necessary, correct balances reported to the Collections agency, and 
issue refunds. 

• The Contractor should develop queries and reports to identify other similar billing issues. Once 
identified, these issues should be reported to both the City’s Fire and Finance Departments, and 
evidence of their timely resolutions should also be presented for review. 

• The Contractor should update all fees in a timely manner to ensure that appropriate charges 
are in place at the beginning of each FY. The Contractor should disable all fees that are no 
longer applicable to avoid errors. The Contractor should run monitoring reports to ensure that 
fees are accurate. 

• The Contractor should explore its ability to provide a report showing the line items charged for 
calls to support ongoing monitoring by the Contractor and City.  



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 19 

• The Fire Department should incorporate a review of these fees into its periodic administrative 
spot checks.  

3. Finding: The County’s new ambulance rates and current revenue sharing model will yield less 
revenue for the City than in the prior FY.  

During FY 2015-16, the City and the Contractor split revenue by establishing a fee, referred to as the 
ALSAF fee, which is the difference between the County’s fee for ALS service and BLS service. This fee 
was $548.25 in FY 2015-16. As shown in Figure 11, the billing for the majority of the calls we 
reviewed, 84 of 85 calls, contained charges for more than the ALSAF fee alone. Of those, 34 
contained charges for the ALSAF fee and Code 3 for a total of $675, and 43 contained charges for the 
ALSAF fee, Code 3, and pulse ox for a total of $761.  

As of July 1, 2016, new ambulance rates became effective in the County. Besides changing the 
amounts, the new schedule eliminated numerous itemized charges. One of the eliminated charges is 
the pulse ox fee, which produced revenue for the City. Additionally, the itemized charges for Code 2 
and Code 3 responses were eliminated. Instead, the County set forth four different rates based on 
ALS service or BLS service and two different response times.  

Figure 15: New County Rate Schedule Components  

Rate Schedule Charge 

(A1) Response to a non-emergency call with equipment and personnel at an 
ALS level  

$1,776 

(A2) Response to an emergency 9-1-1 call with equipment and personnel at an 
ALS level 

$1,900 

(B1) Response to a non-emergency call with equipment and personnel at a BLS 
level  

$1,183 

(B2) Response to an emergency 9-1-1 call with equipment and personnel at a 
BLS level  

$1,268 

Currently, the Fire Department and the Contractor have agreed upon a fee of $632 for the City’s 
services. This fee represents the difference between the charges for a response to an emergency call 
and personnel at an ALS level and a response to an emergency call and personnel at a BLS level.  
While this fee is an increase from the previous year’s ALSAF fee, without the pulse ox fee and 
itemized Code 3 charge, the new revenue split will result in $43 less per call for 34 of 85 calls in our 
sample and $129 less per call for 43 of 85 calls in our sample.  



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 20 

In contrast, the rates charged by the Contractor’s BLS services will increase from the previous FY 
rates. The current rate for non-emergency calls and personnel at a BLS level of service is now 
$1,183, which is $120.25 more than in the prior FY for BLS service with a Code 2 response. Similarly, 
the current rate for emergency calls and personnel at a BLS level of service is now $1,268, which is 
$128.50 more than in the prior FY for BLS service with a Code 3 response. Additionally, the new 
disposable medical supply fee of $27 will be applied to all calls. This amount will be billed by the 
Contractor, who will retain this revenue.  

The current revenue sharing split will result in an increase in fees for the Contractor, regardless of 
the BLS service selected, and a decrease in fees for the City. However, because the ambulance rate 
structure changed significantly since the development of this City’s contract, neither the recent 
changes to the rate structure nor the current revenue sharing model are included in the current 
contract. Therefore, it appears that the City has an opportunity to work with the Contractor to 
negotiate a more equitable fee structure for their respective services.  

Recommendations:  

• Given the significant changes to the County’s ambulance rate schedule, the City should explore 
adjustments to its revenue sharing structure with the Contractor for the remainder of the FY. 
For example, the City could propose receiving the difference between the emergency response 
and personnel at an ALS level to a non-emergency response and personnel at a BLS level, which 
would result in $717 in fees. Moreover, the City should discuss with the Contractor how the 
medical supplies fees will be billed and revenue distributed.  

• The City should modify the current contract and all future ambulance contracts to 
comprehensively address billing expectations and requirements. In particular, all services and 
charges published by the County should be addressed by the contract, including requirements 
for billing and revenue recipient. If the County modifies the services or charges, a contract 
amendment should be issued to update this agreement.  

• The City should explore including additional language into the new contract to require the 
Contractor to maintain adequate and appropriate documentation for all services performed 
and billed.   

• For the FY 2016-17, the City should create a table like the one shown below that includes all of 
the current year’s rates and charges. This table should clearly define services or treatments and 
associated charges and revenue recipient. Areas of ambiguity or complexity, such as medical 
supplies fees, should be addressed in notes within the table. Once complete, this table should be 
added to the current contract and updated and included in future contracts. 



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 21 

Figure 16: City of Santa Monica Rates and Charges  

 
LA County FY 16-17 

Maximum Rate Billed 
Contractor 

Invoice 
City 

Invoice 

Rate Schedule 

Response to a non-emergency call with equipment and 
personnel at an ALS level  

$1,776 Yes No* Yes 

Response to an emergency 9-1-1 call with equipment and 
personnel at an ALS level 

$1,900 Yes No* Yes 

Response to a non-emergency call with equipment and 
personnel at a BLS level  

$1, 183 Yes Yes No 

Response to an emergency 9-1-1 call with equipment and 
personnel at a BLS level  

$1,268 Yes Yes No 

Mileage Rate: Each mile or fraction thereof $18 Yes Yes No 

Waiting Time: For each 30-minute period or fraction 
thereof after the first 30 minutes of waiting time at the 
request of the person hiring the ambulance 

$100 No N/A N/A 

Standby Time: The base rate for the prescribed level of 
service and, in addition, for each 30-minute period or 
fraction thereof after the first 30 minutes of standby time 

$96 No N/A N/A 

*In the case of bundled billing, as required for Medicare, the Contractor shall issue a bill for ALS services and 
pass-through the following amount to the City <TBD:$ amount passed through to City> 

Special Charges 

Night Call: Request for service after 7:00 pm and before 
7:00 am of the next day will be subject to an additional 
maximum charge of 

$20.00 Yes Yes No 

Oxygen: Persons requiring oxygen shall be subject to an 
additional maximum charge per tank or fraction thereof, 
and oxygen delivery equipment to include nasal cannula 
and/or oxygen mask, of 

$92.00 Yes Yes No 

Neonatal Transport $190.00 No N/A N/A 

Registered nurse or respiratory therapist specialty care 
transport with equipment and personnel for up to 3 
hours of transportation time 

$2,137.00 

 
No N/A N/A 

Registered nurse and respiratory therapist specialty care 
transport with equipment and personnel for up to 3 
hours of transportation time 

$2,416.00 No N/A N/A 

Registered Nurse and/or Respiratory Therapist per hour 
after the first 3 hours 

$114.00 No N/A N/A 



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 22 

 
LA County FY 16-17 

Maximum Rate Billed 
Contractor 

Invoice 
City 

Invoice 

Volume Ventilator $176.00 <TBD> <TBD> <TBD> 

Disposable Medical Supplies $27.00 Yes <TBD> <TBD> 

Notes: The disposable medical supplies fees shall be applied to the <TBD: City/Contractor> invoices for all calls 
and the revenue shall be retained by the <TBD: City/Contractor>. 

 



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 23 

IV. BILLING: SPECIAL CHARGES 

A. BACKGROUND 

There are a variety of individual services that may be performed by the City and/or the Contractor. 
According to the contract, AmeriCare can bill for additional services or fees as set forth within the LA 
County rates. The contract also specifies who receives the revenue generated by these additional fees, 
the Contractor or the City. Based on agreements between the Contractor and the City, not all of the fees 
set forth by the County are charged. For example, the City does not impose the fee for pickups at skilled 
nursing facilities. Similarly, the Contractor stated that it does not charge for waiting or standby time. 
(Refer to Figure 5 for ambulance rates and revenue recipients for FY 2015-16.) However, these 
agreements are not fully documented within the contract.   

During the course of our review, LA County announced new ambulance rates for FY 2016-17. Besides 
changing the maximum rates for services, the new rates eliminated many of the additional service 
charges we examined in this section. Given these changes, our recommendations have been adjusted 
accordingly. While the elimination of these charges removes the risk of these issues from occurring in 
the future, underlying issues of related to recordkeeping, billing, and monitoring practices will continue 
to be relevant in the future. 

Pulse Ox 

Pulse ox is considered an important vital sign for emergency medical personnel to obtain. In recent 
years, pulse ox has come under debate as to whether it can be considered an ALS assessment or 
treatment or if it has become part of the standard of care. In July 2015, following the City’s legal 
settlement related to ambulance billing, the City and Contractor sought clarification from legal counsel 
and it was determined that pulse ox can be charged, but it cannot be used to differentiate between ALS 
and BLS levels of assessment or interventions.  

Oxygen 

When oxygen is provided to a patient, additional fees can be charged. According to county ambulance 
rates, patients can be charged a maximum rate per tank or for fractions of a tank. 

Additional Therapies 

In addition to pulse ox and oxygen, there are a variety of other therapies that are employed by the Fire 
Department’s paramedics and the Contractor’s EMT’s that have additional charges associated with them. 
In this section we review the following therapies for which there are associated fees:  

• Backboard, splints, KED 

• Traction splints 

• Ice packs 

• Bandages, dressings 



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 24 

• Cervical collar 

• Burn kit 

• Automated external defibrillator (AED) 

• Continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP) 

Night Calls 

In accordance with the City’s contract and County guidance, an additional charge can be applied to calls 
where the request for service is after 7:00 p.m. and before 7:00 a.m. of the next day. Based on FY 2015-
16 County rates, a maximum charge of $82.25 can be applied to these calls.  

Code 3  

Code 3, which used to be called “lights and sirens,” refers to an emergency response. According to the 
County’s published rates, the Code 3 charge can be “used during response or transport, per incident,” 
and the charge during FY 2015-16 was $126.75. 

B. METHODOLOGY 

For the ambulance calls selected in our sample, we reviewed the following: 

• City’s PCR forms, City’s invoices, City’s billing screens, and billing narratives 

• Contractor’s PCR forms, Contractor’s invoices, Contractor’s billing screens, and billing narratives 

C. RESULTS, FINDINGS, AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

Pulse Oxygen 

To examine the use of pulse oxygen and its subsequent billing, we reviewed 85 calls and compared the 
City’s PCR form, Contractor’s PCR form, and invoices issued.  

4. Finding: Billing for pulse oxygen service was inconsistent. 

The applicable rates for calls in our sample are the County’s FY 2015-16 ambulance rates which 
include an additional charge for the performance of pulse ox. We found that in 82 of the 85 calls, 
pulse ox was performed, based on the City’s PCR records.  



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 25 

Figure 17: City Services Performed, Recorded, and Billed – Pulse Ox  

Transport Type 
Performed (City PCR 

Form) 
Charges Recorded 

(Contractor PCR Form) Billed (City Invoice) 

ALS 
Yes – 59 

No – 1  

Yes – 56 

No – 4  

Yes – 38 

No – 22 

BLS 
Yes – 23 

No – 2 

Yes – 22 

No – 3  

Yes – 10 

No – 15 

Despite the overwhelming use of pulse ox, billing records did not reflect this widespread use. 
Specifically, for these same 85 records, we found that only 48 included charges for pulse ox. 
Conversely, in two of the three instances where pulse ox was not performed, we found that charges 
were assessed on the bill.   

Given the frequency with which pulse ox service is provided, it could be a significant source of 
additional fees for the City. While charging this fee does not always mean that it will be paid, the 
failure to bill for pulse ox whenever performed understates the gross fees associated with 
ambulance services. We found that pulse ox charges were omitted for more than 40% of the calls in 
our sample where pulse ox was performed. These omissions from the City’s invoices in our sample 
represent a potential loss in revenue for the City of approximately $2,924 with the actual amount 
depending on the exact payer mix. Based on the 85 records we reviewed, we found that these billing 
practices had the following potential financial impact: 

Figure 18: Pulse Ox Billing Differences 

Pulse Ox ALS Transport BLS Transport 

Possible Gross Fees $86 x 59 = $5,074 $86 x 23 = $1,978 

Amount Billed $86 x 38 = $3,268 $86 x 10= $860 

Difference: Revenue not Captured $1,806 $1,118 

Recommendations: 

• The Contractor should immediately review the two calls already identified and refund pulse ox 
fees where appropriate.  

• The Contractor should implement a more robust quality assurance process to ensure the 
completeness of all invoices and that gross fees are captured accurately in order to maximize 
revenue capture for the City. 



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 26 

• Since the itemized charge for pulse ox has been eliminated and would now be included in the 
ambulance transport fees, the City does not need to implement monitoring unless the County 
incorporates more itemized charges in the future. However, the City could consider performing 
a look back study comparing billing records to patient care records to determine if the City 
collected pulse ox fees for any patients without providing this service.  

Oxygen 

To examine the use of oxygen and it subsequent billing, we reviewed 22 calls where we found an 
indication that oxygen was used. For these calls, we compared the City’s PCR form, the Contractor’s PCR 
form, and invoices issued. As indicated in the figure below, we found discrepancies when comparing the 
City’s PCR form, Contractor’s PCR form, and invoices. The administration of oxygen was not recorded 
consistently for these calls across these types of documents. 

Figure 19: Additional Services Performed, Recorded, and Billed – Oxygen 

Oxygen 
Administered 

Performed (City 
PCR Form) 

Performed 
(Contractor PCR 

Form) 

Charges Recorded 
(Contractor PCR 

Form) 

Billed 
(Contractor 

Invoice) 

Performed - Both 
PCR Forms (17) 

Yes (17) Yes (17) Yes (16) 

No (1) 

Yes (13) 

No (4) 

Performed – City 
PCR Form Only (2) 

Yes (2) No (0) Yes (2) 

No (0) 

Yes (0) 

No (2) 

Performed - 
Contractor PCR 
Form Only (5)  

No (5) Yes (5) Yes (3) 

 No (2)  

Yes (4) 

No (1) 

Total 22 22 22 22 

5. Finding: Inconsistencies were noted in the oxygen service recordkeeping.  

When comparing the City’s and Contractor’s PCR forms, we observed discrepancies in the records 
regarding the administration of oxygen. While it is possible that oxygen was administered by the 
Contractor during the course of a BLS transport without the knowledge of the City’s paramedic, 
without more information, these instances appear to be discrepancies in recordkeeping. There is no 
explanation for the two calls where oxygen was noted on the City’s PCR form only and not on the 
Contractor’s form. Additionally, one call had a charge for oxygen noted on the Contractor’s PCR form 
despite no record of it being administered by either the City or the Contractor. While no oxygen 
charge was actually applied, this type of discrepancy could result in billing errors.  



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 27 

Recommendations:  

• The Contractor should work with its field staff to improve the completeness and accuracy of its 
recordkeeping.  

• As part of the recommended periodic administrative spot checks, the Fire Department should 
compare the patient care forms maintained by the City and the Contractor, as well as the billing 
records.  

6. Finding: The Contractor did not charge patients for all oxygen services delivered.  

We found that 17 patients were billed for oxygen. However, both the City’s and Contractor’s records 
indicated that additional patients were given oxygen. Based on the recordkeeping discrepancies, we 
cannot determine the exact amount of revenue missed for oxygen administration (between two and 
five additional patients based on the sample, depending on whether the City’s or Contractor’s PCRs 
are used). Failure to bill oxygen charges not only results in revenue to the Contractor, but it also 
results in understated gross fees associated with the City’s overall ambulance operation.  

Recommendations:  

• The Contractor should implement its own process to ensure that all applicable oxygen fees are 
being charged.  

• Using the reports available with the implementation of electronic PCRs, the City should monitor 
the application of these fees as part of an ongoing quality control check.  

7. Finding: Not all charges for oxygen were consistent with the County’s maximum established 
rates. 

Of the 17 instances in which patients were charged for oxygen, we found two instances in which 
patients were charged fees in excess of the County’s rate. These billing errors were caused by a 
failure to change the prior FY pricing in a timely manner and, thus, these calls were billed at the 
prior year’s rate. 

Recommendations: 

• The Contractor should analyze its billing data to examine whether or not other fees were 
charged inappropriately, particularly at the beginning of the new FY when County rates 
changed. Documentation of this analysis should be provided to the City for review and 
verification.  

• Any charges in excess of LA County rates that are identified should be reported to the City and 
any overpayments should be returned to the appropriate parties. Documentation of these 
refunds should be provided to the City for review and verification. 

• The Contractor should implement a quality control process to ensure that all rates are updated 
appropriately at the beginning of each FY or when new ambulance rates are implemented. This 
process and evidence of changes should be provided to the City for review and verification.   



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 28 

Additional Therapies 

We reviewed 88 patient care records from our sample to analyze the performance of additional services, 
as well as their associated billing and application of charges. We compared the City’s PCR form, the 
Contractor’s PCR form, and invoices. On the City’s PCR form, we reviewed the Therapies section. On the 
Contractor’s PCR form, we reviewed the section regarding charges. Of the 88 records, we found that 63 
records had no indication of other therapies with associated charges on the City’s PCR form, the 
Contractor’s PCR form, or invoices. For the remaining 25 records, we found that additional therapies or 
fees were noted on the City’s PCR form, the Contractor’s PCR form, and/or the invoices. As indicated in 
the figure below, we found discrepancies when comparing the City’s PCR form, Contractor’s PCR form, 
and invoices. Additional therapies were not recorded consistently for these calls across these types of 
documents. In particular, for these 25 calls, we found that 12 calls had additional therapies indicated on 
the City’s PCR form, 19 calls had charges recorded for additional therapies on the Contractor’s PCR form, 
and five calls had charges invoiced for additional therapies.  

Upon further review of the 25 records with additional treatments or charges associated, we identified 
the discrepancies noted in the figure below. Because a given call can have more than one additional 
therapy indicated, this figure includes the count of therapies noted rather than a count of associated 
calls.  

Figure 20: Additional Therapies Discrepancies  

Additional Therapy Performed (City PCR 
Form) 

Charges Recorded 
(Contractor PCR Form) 

Billed 

CPAP 2 0 0 

Splint 2 1 0 

Ice Pack 45 2 1 

C-Collar 0 6 2 

Bandage 0 4 1 

C-Spine 6 4 0 

Restraints 1 1 0 

Special Handling 0 4 0 

Monitor 0 2 0 

Medical Records Fee 0 0 1 

Total 15 24 5 

                                                                 
5 In one instance, it was noted that two ice packs were used.  



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 29 

We found that for a given ambulance call, the additional therapy may be noted on the City’s PCR form as 
having been performed but not noted on the Contractor’s form to signal to the Contractor’s billing staff 
to bill for additional services, or vice versa. In particular, we found that these additional therapies only 
resulted in additional fees for five of these 25 calls. The Contractor uses the same form at the City of 
Santa Monica that it uses in other jurisdictions.  Therefore, the Contractor’s form contains fields on its 
form for services that are not billed in Santa Monica such as special handling. Based on our review, we 
considered the potential financial impact of these additional treatments.  

Figure 21: Potential Financial Impact of Discrepancies  

Additional Therapy & 
Associated Charge 

Performed 
(City PCR Form) 

Count - Value 

Charges Recorded 
(Contractor PCR Form) 

Count - Value 
Billed 

Count - Value 

CPAP ($86 .00) 2 - $172.00 0 - $0.00 0 - $0.00 

Splint ($49.75) 2- $99.50 1 - $49.75 0 - $0.00 

Ice Pack ($26.50) 4 - $106.00  2- $53.00 1 - $26.50 

C-Collar ($44.75) 0 - $0.00 6 - $268.50 2 - $89.50 

Bandage ($26.50) 0 - $0.00 4 - $106.00 1 - $26.50 

C-Spine ($44.75) 6 - $268.50 4 - $179.00 0 - $0.00 

Restraints6 ($49.75) 1 - $49.75 1 - $49.75 0 - $0.00 

Special Handling7 ($49.75) 0 - $0.00 4 - $199.00 0 - $0.00 

Monitoring (N/A) 0 - $0.00 2 - $0.00 0 - $0.00 

Medical Records Fee ($15.00) 0 - $0.00 0 - $0.00 1 - $15.00 

Total 15 - $696.75 24 - $905.00 5 - $142.50 

City's Portion $172.00 $0.00 $0.00 

Contractor’s Portion $523.75 $905.00 $142.50 

                                                                 
6 Restraints and special handling are on the list of additional charges indicated on the Contractor’s PCR Form. However, 
they could be used to mean a variety of different types of treatments or services. For example, “restraints” or “special 
handling” could be indicated on the Contractor’s PCR form when a backboard is required for the patient, and in Santa 
Monica the use of a backboard has an associated fee. However, restraints or special handling could alternately be 
indicated for a patient that needed to be restrained due to violence, which does not have an associated charge. For this 
analysis, we assumed that the terms “restraints” and “special handling” mean the use of a backboard with an associated 
charge.   
 



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 30 

The above figure shows that the discrepancies in recorded information relating to additional treatments 
result in variation in the potential financial impact of these discrepancies. The Contractor invoiced for 
five additional therapies that are associated with $142.50 worth of charges. In contrast, the City’s PCR 
forms noted 14 additional therapies with $696.75 worth of charges and the Contractor’s PCR form noted 
24 additional therapies with $905.00 worth of charges. Given the revenue sharing arrangement between 
the City and the Contractor, the recipient of this potential revenue would depend on the type of 
additional therapies. Specifically, the Contractor would retain the revenue for all additional therapies 
except for CPAP which would be retained by the City.   

8. Finding: There are inconsistencies in the records related to additional treatments.  

We found that additional treatments were recorded for 15 calls on the City’s PCR forms and 24 calls 
on the Contractor’s PCR forms. In some instances these differences are reasonable. For example, if 
an ice pack or bandage is administered in the course of a BLS transport by the Contractor’s EMS 
staff, then it would be appropriate for this item to be omitted from the City’s PCR form because the 
City’s paramedics were not present during transport. Similarly, if the charges for special handling or 
restraints were used to provide treatments or services that have no associated charge in Santa 
Monica, then it is appropriate for these items to be omitted from the Contractor’s PCR forms. 
However, there are numerous discrepancies that appear to be due to human error.  

Recommendations:  

• Due to the changes this year in County ambulance rates, which eliminated these individual 
special charges, the City does not need to implement monitoring to prevent issues related to 
this going forward unless the County incorporates more itemized charges in the future.  

• If the County moves towards itemization of additional charges in the future, then the City 
should incorporate verification of additional services into its administrative quality assurance 
initiative. 

9. Finding: The Contractor did not fully bill for all additional treatments, creating lost potential 
revenue for the Contractor and the City. 

Based on the City’s contract, the Contractor “shall bill and collect for all services as directed and 
regulated under applicable Federal, State or County guidelines.” This language implies that complete 
billing should be pursued, but the contract does not state this directly. Additionally, the contract 
does not include language about certain services that the City has not decided to charge for, such as 
the skilled nursing facility fee.  

Based on the results of our sample testing, our analysis revealed the potential financial impact of 
these inconsistencies. In particular, we found that the Contractor invoiced for $142.50 worth of the 
additional treatments. All of the charges that were invoiced were for treatments or services for 
which the Contractor would receive the associated revenue. Using the City’s records, a total of 
$695.75 should have been invoiced for additional services, $172 which would have been due to the 
City for CPAP services. Using the Contractor’s records, a total of $905 should have been invoiced for 
additional services.  



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 31 

Upon inquiry about the observed inconsistencies in billing for additional treatments, the Contractor 
stated that they do not bother to include these special charge line items, because they are so rarely 
covered by insurance or private payers. While most of the additional charges are revenue for the 
Contractor, certain charges represent revenue that is due to the City. The decision to not fully charge 
for additional services therefore represents potential lost revenue for the City and inconsistencies in 
billing practices. For example, in the two instances we identified where a CPAP was used, the 
Contractor failed to invoice for this treatment, resulting in a loss of $172 in potential revenue for the 
City. Without more comprehensive language in the contract to guide billing expectations and 
requirements, there is an increased opportunity for inconsistent billing practices such as this. 

While the decision to pick and choose which calls get additional charges may have seemed like a 
reasonable business decision for the Contractor itself given the limited likelihood of payment by 
certain payer types, its failure to fully invoice for these additional charges is problematic for the City. 
This leads not only to lost opportunities for revenue collection for both the Contractor and the City, 
but also an incomplete capture of gross fees.  

Recommendations:  

• The City should modify the current contract and all future ambulance contracts to 
comprehensively address billing expectations and requirements. In particular, all services and 
charges published by the County should be addressed by the contract, including requirements 
for billing and revenue recipient. If the County modifies the services or charges, a contract 
amendment should be issued to update the agreement. 

For example, for the current FY 2016-17, the City should create a table that includes all of the 
current year’s rates and charges. This table should clearly define what services or treatments 
will result in associated charges and who is the recipient of the revenue. Areas of ambiguity or 
complexity, such as medical supplies fees, should be addressed in notes within the table.  Once 
complete, this table should be added to the current contract and updated and included in future 
contracts.  

• The City should remove the skilled nursing facility fee from the current ambulance contract and 
all contracts going forward given that this fee is scheduled to be removed from the City’s fee 
resolution in June 2017.   

Night Calls 

For each of the calls in our sample, we compared the incident time recorded within the Fire 
Department’s system data to the Contractor’s PCR form and the system’s billing records. Of the 86 
records reviewed, we found that the majority of the calls, 74 of 86, contained consistent information 
regarding after hours service or night calls. For the remaining 12 calls, we found that not all incidents 
that qualified as night calls had charges indicated on the Contractor’s PCR form or were billed this 
additional fee.  



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 32 

Of the 12 calls that did not have consistent information about night service, three of these 
inconsistencies have a billing impact. In particular, we found that by failing to bill for these three after 
hours calls, the Contractor missed the opportunity to collect $246.75. The remaining nine instances 
represent inconsistencies in recordkeeping, but they do not have a billing impact. 

Figure 22: Night Calls Billing Impact 

Night Calls Billing Impact 
Call 

Count 
Incident 
Qualifies 

Charges 
Indicated Billed 

All Information Matches 

Incident qualifies, charges indicated, billed 18 Yes Yes Yes 

Incident does not qualify, no charges indicated, not billed 56 No No No 

Total 74    

Information Discrepancies: Billing Impact 

Incident qualifies, no charges indicated, not billed 1 Yes No No 

Incident qualifies, charges indicated, not billed 2 Yes Yes No 

Total 3    

Information Discrepancies: No Billing Impact 

Incident qualifies, charges not indicated, billed 8 Yes No Yes 

Incident does not qualify, charges indicated, not billed 1 No Yes No 

Total 9    

We reviewed the 26 calls that included billing for night calls. Of these 26 calls, we found that 23 were 
charged in a consistent manner, whereby patients were billed in a separate line item for “Night Call” at 
the maximum County rate of $82.25. There were variations in how the remaining three patients were 
billed for this after-hours service. We found that the rate for “Night Call” exceeded the maximum County 
rate in two calls. Instead of $82.25, patients were billed $84.75. Also, the combined line item exceeded 
the maximum total for these services of $1,145, which is the charge for BLS, Code 2, and the Night Call. 
In the case of one sample, the patient was charged twice for after-hours service, both as part of the BLS 
service charge and as a separate line item.  



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 33 

Figure 23: Night Calls Charge Amount  

Sample 

Separate “Night Call” Line 
Item (Wrong Rate 

Charged) 

Combined Line Item 
(Wrong Rate 

Charged) Excess Billed 

(26) No Yes $316.00 = ($1,461-$1,145) 

(37) Yes No $2.50 = ($84.75-$82.25) 

(72) Yes Yes $318.50 = ($1,461-$1,145) + ($84.75-$82.25) 

Total   $637 

10. Finding: Not all fees charged for night service were accurate. 

Of the 26 instances where fees were charged for night calls, we found three instances where the fees 
charged were in excess of the County’s maximum rate. These billing errors were caused by a failure 
to change the prior FY pricing in a timely manner and, thus, these calls were billed at the prior year’s 
rate. In one of these instances, a patient was charged twice for the night call, and both of these 
charges were the incorrect amount. In these three instances, given the type of coverage, no actual 
excess payment was made.  

Recommendations:  

• The Contractor should analyze its billing data to examine whether or not other fees were 
charged inappropriately, particularly at the beginning of the new FY when County rates 
changed. Documentation of this analysis should be provided to the City for review and 
verification.  

• Any charges in excess of LA County rates that are identified should be reported to the City and 
any overpayments should be returned to the appropriate parties. Documentation of these 
refunds should be provided to the City for review and verification. 

• The Contractor should implement a quality control process to ensure that all rates are updated 
appropriately at the beginning of each FY or when new ambulance rates are implemented. This 
process and evidence of these changes should be provided to the City for review and 
verification.  

11. Finding: The Contractor’s practices regarding the billing of night calls are inconsistent. 

Based on our sample size, we found that 29 of 86 records, or roughly one third of calls qualified as 
night calls based on the incident time recorded within City’s system data. Of these calls we found 
inconsistencies in the Contractor’s recordkeeping relating to these calls. Specifically we found that 
sometimes the Contractor’s staff marked their patient care form to charge the night call fee and 
other times they did not.  



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 34 

Additionally, we found that three calls that did qualify for night call charges were not billed. This 
represents a missed opportunity for the Contractor to collect $246.75. Not billing night call charges 
not only deprives the Contractor of this revenue, but also results in a failure to fully capture the 
gross fees associated with the City’s overall ambulance operation. 

Recommendations:  

• The Contractor should implement its own process to ensure that all applicable night call fees 
are being charged.  

• The City should monitor the application of these fees as part of an ongoing quality control 
check.  

Code 3  

12. Finding: The Contractor’s practices for charging fees for Code 3 responses may not have been 
consistent with the intent of the County’s rate schedule.  

LA County’s General Public ambulance rate schedule for FY 2015-16 states that “an ambulance 
operator shall charge no more than the following rates for one patient.” According to these rates, 
Code 3, formerly known as “lights and sirens,” is defined as “used during response or transport per 
incident.” 

Based on our review, we found that for many ALS calls, the Contractor billed patients for Code 3 on 
both the City and the Contractor’s invoices, resulting in two charges for one patient. We also found 
that in many instances, the Contractor billed Code 3 on both the City and the Contractor’s invoices 
for BLS. While the City does respond Code 3 to all medical calls it is dispatched to, this billing 
practice seems questionable considering the City’s invoice on BLS calls is for its level of assessment 
rather than transport. 

The County’s new ambulance rate schedule does not include itemized charges for Code 3 responses. 
Therefore, this issue does not pose an ongoing issue for the City.  

Recommendation: 

• To identify if potential refunds are due, the City should consider seeking a formal opinion about 
the allowability of the practice of applying Code 3 twice for a single ambulance call. If this 
practice is not allowable, then the City should have the Contractor perform a billing analysis to 
examine the extent of fees charged in this manner.  

13. Finding: Documentation regarding transportation is not complete. 

The decision about whether or not the ambulance operator uses Code 3 in traveling to or from an 
incident is determined by the Fire Department. Upon traveling to the incident, the City’s dispatch 
tells the ambulance whether to use Code 3. Similarly, at the incident, when it is time to transport the 
patient, the City’s paramedics make the determination about whether or not Code 3 is necessary for 
transporting to the hospital. During our review of sample calls, we found that the Contractor almost 
always applied Code 3 charges despite the lack of documentation that the Contractor’s field staff was 



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 35 

directed to use Code 3. Without documentation to corroborate that the Contractor was directed to 
use Code 3, it is difficult to determine whether or not these charges were appropriately applied. 

The County’s new ambulance rates no longer include itemized charges for Code 3 responses. 
However, the new rates differ based on the type of response. If incomplete documentation about 
responses persists, then the inability to corroborate the appropriateness of charges will also persist. 

Recommendations: 

• The Contractor should develop policies and processes to consistently document response type 
and the City’s direction to transport Code 3, and bill accordingly.  

• The City should monitor the application of fees based on response time as part of an ongoing 
administrative quality control check.  

Mileage 

14. Finding: Some calls were charged mileage rates in excess of those established by the County. 

We reviewed the records related to mileage and mileage billing for 85 ambulance calls. All 85 
records had mileage recorded on the Contractor’s PCR forms and charges on the Contractor’s 
invoices. For 79 of these 85 calls, the Contractor billed the mileage in accordance with the County’s 
FY 2015-16 maximum mileage rate of $18.50. For the six remaining calls, we found that the 
Contractor billed in excess of this rate, at $19.00 per mile. For these six calls, we examined the 
impact of this billing rate error. In total, the mileage billed for these calls was $229.90, based on 
$19.00 per mile, rather than $223.85, at the approved maximum rate of $18.50. This equates to a 
total overbilling of $6.05 across these six calls. 

Figure 24: Mileage Billing Differences  

Sample 

(A) 

Mileage Billed 

(B) 

Amount Billed 

(C) 

Correct Billing Rate 

(D) 

Difference (B-C) 

(18) 0.1 $1.90 $1.85 $0.05 

(20) 5.0 $95.00 $92.50 $2.50 

(37) 2.0 $38.00 $37.00 $1.00 

(46) 2.0 $38.00 $37.00 $1.00 

(72) 1.0 $19.00 $18.50 $0.50 

(76) 2.0 $38.00 $37.00 $1.00 

Total 12.1 $229.90 $223.85 $6.05 



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 36 

Recommendations: 

• The Contractor should analyze its billing data to examine whether other mileage fees were 
charged correctly, particularly at the beginning of the new FY when County rates changed. 
Documentation of this analysis should be provided to the City for review and verification.  

• Any charges in excess of LA County rates that are identified should be reported to the City and 
any overpayments should be returned to the appropriate parties. Documentation of these 
refunds should be provided to the City for review and verification. 

• The Contractor should implement a quality control process to ensure that all rates are updated 
appropriately at the beginning of each FY or when new ambulance rates are implemented. This 
process and evidence of these changes should be provided to the City for review and 
verification.  

15. Finding: There are inconsistencies in the number of miles recorded and the number of miles 
billed. 

We reviewed the records related to mileage and mileage billing for 85 ambulance calls. We 
compared the number of miles recorded on the Contractor’s patient care form to the number of 
miles billed by the Contractor for these calls. We found that the mileage recorded was equal to the 
mileage billed for 35 of these 85 calls. For the remaining 50 calls, we found that 47 calls billed 
mileage more than the mileage recorded, and three calls billed less mileage than the mileage 
records. In aggregate for these 85 calls, we found that the Contractor billed for 18.8 more miles than 
the number of miles recorded on the Contractor’s patient care forms. At the applicable County rate 
for mileage, this difference totals $347.80. 

Figure 25: Mileage Recordkeeping and Billing  

 
Call Count Miles 

Associated Charges with 
FY 15-16 Mileage Rate 

Miles Billed: System report of 
Contractor’s billing record 

85 179.4 $3,318.90 

Miles Recorded: Contractor’s PCR Form 85 160.6 $2,971.10 

Difference 0 18.8 $347.80 

Recommendations: 

• The Contractor should develop policies and processes to ensure accurate billing of recorded 
mileage. These should be provided to the City for review. 

• As part of the City’s ongoing administrative monitoring process, the City should compare the 
mileage billed by the Contractor to the mileage recorded.  



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 37 

16. Finding: Problems with mileage recordkeeping and billing may have a compounding impact.  

We considered the issue of mileage accuracy coupled with this use of incorrect rates. For example, 
we found that four of the six calls that were billed with incorrect rates may have also had inaccurate 
mileage amounts recorded. If the miles recorded on the Contractor’s forms were used for billing, 
coupled with the accurate mileage rate, the mileage charges for these four calls would have been 
$36.80 in total. In one instance, the mileage charge would have changed from $19.00 to $5.55, a 
difference of $13.45. 

Figure 26: Mileage Billing Difference, Rate Issues 

 

The Contractor does not record the actual odometer readings at the beginning and end of each trip. 
Instead, the Contractor appears to reset the trip odometer to zero at the beginning of each trip and 
record the final mileage at the end of the trip. This is not consistent with the instruction on the 
Contractor’s own PCR form. Additionally, without written actual odometer readings, there is less 
reliability about the mileage reported and increased risk that miles are not being recorded or 
reported accurately. Moreover, weaknesses in complete and consistent reporting of incident 
addresses and drop-off addresses create additional uncertainty about the mileage billing.  

Recommendations: 

• The Contractor should report actual odometer readings at the beginning and end of each trip. 
Alternatively, the Contractor should propose additional controls for ensuring the accuracy of 
trip odometer readings under the current recording method.  

• The City should collaborate with the Contractor’s field staff to ensure that ongoing 
improvements occur in recordkeeping. Incorporate recordkeeping quality into future contract 
requirements.  

• In future contracts the City should consider requiring Contractors to use commonly available 
GPS programs to calculate mileage based upon reasonable travel routes and traffic conditions.  

Sample 

(A) 

Mileage 
Billed 

(B) 

Amount 
Billed 

(C) 

Correct 
Billing 

Rate 

(D) 

Difference 

(B-C) 

(E) 

Mileage 
Recorded 

(F) 

Correct Billing 
Rate x Mileage 

Recorded 

(G) 

Difference 

(B-F) 

(37) 2 $38.00 $37.00 $1.00 1.8 $33.30 $4.70 

(46) 2 $38.00 $37.00 $1.00 1.7 $31.45 $6.55 

(72) 1 $19.00 $18.50 $0.50 0.3 $5.55 $13.45 

(76) 2 $38.00 $37.00 $1.00 1.4 $25.90 $12.10 

Total 7 $133.00 $129.50 $3.50 5.2 $96.20 $36.80 



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 38 

V. REVENUE COLLECTION 

A. METHODOLOGY 

We interviewed personnel involved in billing and revenue collection from the Fire Department, Finance 
Department, and the Contractor.  

We reviewed the following documentation: 

• Invoices, billing screenshots, and billing narratives for sample selected 

• Deposit information received from the City 

• Deposit information received from the Contractor 

• Memo prepared by the Finance Department regarding a billing and revenue reconciliation process 

• Outside collection agency’s report 

• Aging reports 

• General ledger information from the City for ambulance revenue accounts 

B. RESULTS, FINDINGS, AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

17. Finding: Lack of clarity about certain billing practices for the City creates uncertainty about 
the revenue due, thereby limiting accountability and full revenue collection. 

Ambulance calls can result in no transport, BLS transport, or ALS transport. Within the City’s system, 
calls are referred to by transport type. However, the type of transport does not necessarily dictate 
the level of service provided and resulting billing. According to the Contractor, they perform all 
billing in accordance with Medicare guidelines.  

For all ALS transports, the Contractor bills for ALS services because this transport type indicates 
that a City paramedic was involved in the transport which makes it a qualifying ALS intervention. 
For BLS transports, the Contractor bills for ALS services if the paramedics performed a qualifying 
ALS level of intervention. These types of intervention have changed over time. The Contractor 
reported that prior to January 2016, these qualifying interventions were the performance of a pulse 
ox, EKG, or blood glucose test. In January 2016, qualifying interventions no longer include pulse ox 
and are limited to the EKG and blood glucose test.8 Although the City’s own PCR forms contain 
information about whether paramedics performed these interventions, they are not routinely 
monitored for the purpose of billing monitoring.  

 

                                                                 
8 In Santa Monica, 12-lead EKGs are considered qualifying interventions. The City no longer administers 
“regular” or 3-lead EKGs. 



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 39 

Additionally, the Contractor does not currently provide detailed reporting about how BLS transports 
are initially billed for BLS services only or for ALS services that result in revenue receivable by the 
City. Without this information, it is difficult for the City to accurately determine the ambulance calls 
for which it is due revenue and effectively monitor billing and revenue collection. Without 
monitoring of all calls that are associated with City revenue, the City faces an increased risk of 
failure to fully capture this revenue. 

Because of the inherent complexities in determining ALS billing for BLS transports, we found some 
inconsistencies in these billings. Within our sample of 25 BLS transports, the Contractor billed 24 of 
these calls for ALS services. However, not all of these 24 calls were ultimately recorded as billable 
ALS services, thereby overstating gross fees. For example, of those 24 calls, seven calls were later 
written off because they were only BLS services and qualifying ALS interventions were not 
performed. Similarly, seven other calls were for Medi-Cal patients, which do not generate revenue 
for the City, whether or not ALS interventions are provided. These fees will be adjusted down 
automatically, because of the patient’s coverage rather than because of the services provided. The 
Contractor’s current practices to initially bill most BLS transports for ALS services overstates the 
gross fees associated with the City’s ambulance operations. These overstatements may lead to 
overstated valuations of the City’s ambulance operations, as well as inaccurate revenue projections. 

Recommendations: 

• Following the City’s recent implementation of electronic patient care forms, the City should 
work with its software vendor to develop mechanisms for reporting the administration of 
qualifying interventions for which ALS services can be billed.  

• The Contractor should develop policies and a process to ensure the integrity of its initial 
patient billing, particularly of BLS transports. The Contractor should consider the following:  

o Discontinue the practice of creating initial billing for ALS services for all BLS transports 
and then writing off charges if qualifying interventions were not performed. 

o Establish a process to report account adjustments to the City. 

18. Finding: Inconsistencies in the timing of billing activities may negatively impact revenue 
collection. 

Through our examination of bills for sampled calls, we observed some instances of inconsistent 
timing of billing activities for the Contractor’s invoice and the City’s invoice. For example, we 
reviewed five calls from our sample that were private pay patients and, therefore, would have 
received separate invoices from the Contractor and the City. For all five calls, we found that the 
City’s billing was performed anywhere from one to six days after the Contractor’s billing. Given the 
importance of timing in successful accounts receivable collection, any delays could have a negative 
impact. Additionally, if invoices are not presented at the same time, then there is a risk that the first 
invoice will be paid but not the second. Moreover, while reviewing deposit information, we found as 
part of remittance information that a customer had to call to request their bill for an ambulance call 
three months earlier. 



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 40 

Additionally, we noted other instances for which the Contractor had received payment from a 
private payer but the City still had not. Within our sample, there were 31 calls with private payers. 
Of these calls, we identified four calls for which the Contractor received payment from the private 
payer but the City had not. Our review of these instances revealed inconsistencies in the actions 
taken by the Contractor on their own behalf and on the City’s behalf. In one instance, we found that 
the Contractor sent an electronic claim to insurance for its invoice and four days later the Contractor 
sent a paper claim to insurance for the City’s invoice. After the Contractor’s claim was denied, the 
patient paid the Contractor’s invoice, yet there is no indication that attempts were made at the same 
time to collect the City’s outstanding bill. Reviewing the City’s billing record indicated there was no 
follow-up action after the initial claim was sent to insurance for processing.  

In another instance, the Contractor submitted an electronic claim for its invoice and submitted the 
City’s invoice to insurance eight days later. After receiving updated insurance information from the 
patient, the Contractor resubmitted its invoice and received payment for most of their services. 
Twelve days later, payment of the City’s invoice was denied because it was not a benefit of the 
subscriber’s health plan. After receiving this denial, the Contractor submitted an invoice directly to 
the patient five days later and three more invoices over the next several weeks. During that same 
time, the Contractor noted calls with the patient’s family to collect credit card payment for the 
outstanding balance on the Contractor’s invoice, as well as the full amount for the City’s invoice. 
After the credit card payment was denied, the Contractor’s follow-up action resulted in full pay-off 
of their outstanding balance but no payment towards the City’s bill. After the Contractor issued the 
fourth and final invoice for the City’s services, no action was taken for five months, at which point 
the account was sent to collections. Examples such as these suggest that the Contractor is neither 
performing the initial billing activities consistently for its own invoices or the City’s invoices, nor is it 
pursuing payments consistently for itself and the City. 

Recommendations: 

• In the long-term, the City should consider pursuing bundled billing.  

• In the short-term and in collaboration with the City, the Contractor should develop measures to 
show that billing activities are being performed in the same timeframe. These measures should 
include reports showing the revenue collection activities and results.  

• As part of the recommended billing spot audits, the City should review the Contractor’s billing 
activities for both the Contractor and for the City to ensure that these are performed within the 
same timeframe and that the City’s outstanding balances are being pursued appropriately.  



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 41 

19. Finding: Some of the Contractor’s accounting practices may compromise the overall accuracy 
of records of the City’s ambulance operations. 

For each ambulance call within the City, the Contractor creates two billing records in its records 
management system. For calls where patients are private payers, the Contractor issues two separate 
invoices, one for the Contractor’s portion of the services provided and one for the City’s portion of 
the services provided. However, due to Medicare requirements, the Contractor has to submit one 
bundled bill for all services for patients with Medicare. Therefore, both ALS and BLS services are 
bundled together on one billing record for the Contractor. The Contractor also records the ALS 
service on the City’s billing record. Looking at the data in aggregate may be misleading because 
there are duplicative gross fees for one call (i.e., records would show one ALS service by the City as 
well as ALS and BLS services by the Contractor). 

Once a Medicare payment is received, the Contractor records this payment in the Contractor’s billing 
record for the call. The Contractor then records adjustments, both debit and credit, to reflect the 
portion of the payment that is due to the City. The City’s portion of the Medicare payment, typically 
$75.47 per call, is paid to the City through a transfer from the Contractor to the City and recorded on 
the City’s billing record as a payment. In aggregate, these internal accounting practices do not 
provide an accurate picture of the revenue collected. Because the Contractor records both a debit 
and credit adjustment in their records for the City’s portion of the payment, the current practices 
have the effect of double counting the City’s portion of the Medicare payment. Therefore, total 
revenue collected by both the Contractor and the City for ambulance services would be overstated.    

We found that the Contractor was not consistent in applying the adjustment of the ALSAF fee to all 
Medicare ALS calls within our sample. Specifically, of the 32 calls for Medicare patients billed for ALS 
service, we found 10 instances where this adjustment was not applied to the Contractor’s billing 
record. Similarly, we found that of the 32 calls, the City’s billing records for five of these calls 
recorded Medi-Cal contractual adjustments, rather than Medicare adjustments.9 Not only were these 
adjustments not calculated accurately for Medi-Cal, but reports or analysis of contractual 
adjustments were also inaccurate. Moreover, the City receives revenue from Medicare calls but not 
Medi-Cal calls. These inaccurate contractual adjustments could compromise the accuracy of revenue 
due to the City. 

Recommendations: 

• The Contractor should modify its current accounting practices for Medicare payments to 
accurately capture the distribution of Medicare payments between the Contractor and the City. 
For example, the Contractor should consider how to apply only one adjustment rather than two 
adjustments that cancel each other out. 

• The Contractor should establish processes and policies regarding the application of the ALSAF 
fee adjustment to all Medicare calls. 

                                                                 
9 Medi-Cal pays limited reimbursement for ambulance benefits.  The Contractor retains all of the revenue for 
Medi-Cal ambulance calls – which was on average $115 in 2015.   



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 42 

• The Contractor should establish processes and policies to ensure the consistent and accurate 
application of contractual adjustments. In particular, the Contractor should explore how to 
address the apparent inaccuracies in the Medi-Cal contractual adjustments identified.  

20. Finding: Current practices do not provide maximum assurance that all revenue will be 
distributed appropriately to the City.  

According to the Contractor, the application of the ALSAF fee adjustment to the Contractor’s billing 
record prompts the Contractor to transfer payment to City. Specifically, it is this adjustment that 
creates a signal to the Contractor to transfer payment to the City. Therefore, without consistent 
application of this adjustment, the City may not receive revenue it is due in a timely manner or at all.  

Within our sample, we found 10 instances of Medicare patients billed for ALS services where this 
adjustment was not applied. Within these 10 calls, we found three instances where revenue was due 
to the City. While all three of these instances have since been resolved, and the City has received the 
appropriate revenue, this raises concerns about the consistency with which Medicare revenue is 
being transferred to the City. For example, one of these instances was not corrected until it was 
brought to the attention of the Contractor during the course of our fieldwork. Moreover, we 
observed Medicare payments received by the City even though adjustments were not applied, which 
creates questions about the ALSAF fee adjustment as the mechanism for triggering payment to the 
City. 

Without additional billing information from the Contractor, the City does not know the level of 
services that the Contractor billed for and therefore lacks complete information about the revenue it 
is due. In particular, for BLS transports, the City does not receive information from the Contractor 
regarding whether ALS services are billed and revenue is due to the City. For the sample we selected 
of 25 BLS transports, the Contractor billed ALS services for 24 of these calls. However, seven of these 
calls were later written off as BLS service only, and another seven were adjusted down for Medi-Cal. 
Thus, of the 24 calls with ALS services billed, revenue would only be due to the City for 10 calls.  

Without reporting at the time of billing, the City does not have adequate information to know how 
much revenue should be collected on its behalf. For example, in one instance we found within the 
narrative of the City’s billing record that the Contractor noted the account should have been billed as 
bundled billing and that if insurance denies the claim, the account should be closed due to billing 
error. In this instance, the City received full revenue for its services. However, this example 
demonstrates current gaps within billing practices and the City’s monitoring. Without additional 
controls in place, there is an opportunity for the Contractor to inappropriately write off ALS charges 
and state that only BLS service was provided for calls in any instances where revenue cannot be 
collected due to billing errors or other weaknesses in billing practices. 

Recommendations: 

• The Contractor should review how it prompts itself within the records management system 
when payment to the City is due. For example, the Contractor could explore making the 
Contractor itself a payer. 



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 43 

• In collaboration with the City, the Contractor should develop a report to provide adequate 
information to the City to facilitate accurate monitoring of billing and revenue collection on 
behalf of the City.  

21. Finding: The Contractor’s practices regarding referral to collections are inconsistent.  

In order to maximize the chances of collection, it is critical to have frequent communication after 
charges are incurred. For example, as defined by the City’s contract, the Contractor must send a first 
collection notice within ten days of the date services are rendered to a patient and a minimum of 
four collection notices within fifty days. If no payment is received after issuing multiple invoices, 
then the Contractor performs its own skip tracing to locate the patient and increase the chances of 
payment. For example, staff perform skip tracing to find new addresses to send invoices or other 
relevant information that may result in payment. If these efforts to gather additional information are 
unsuccessful, then the Contractor refers these outstanding balances to an outside collections agency.  

While the Contractor’s course of action following non-payment is appropriate, the Contractor lacks 
policies or formal guidance to ensure consistent practices. In particular, the Contractor does not 
have a firm timeline for performing skip tracing activities or a deadline for referring accounts to the 
outside collections agency. The rate of successful collection of outstanding accounts receivables 
decreases significantly the longer accounts age. During our review, we found that accounts were 
recommended for referral to collections, but they were not sent to the collections agency for another 
month or more following referral. According to the Contractor, it currently sends accounts for 
collection every four to six weeks. Thus, without a firm deadline for referral to collections agencies, 
the Contractor may be decreasing the chances of payment with any delays.  

During our review of selected ambulance calls, we noted that the Contractor did not always pursue 
collections at the same time for the City’s outstanding balances as it did for its own. For example, 
one of the calls in our sample had outstanding balances for both the Contractor’s invoice ($150) and 
the City’s invoice ($761). These balances were recommended for referral to the collections agency 
on the same date, but were not sent on the same date. Instead, the City’s outstanding balance was 
sent to the collections agency four months after the Contractor’s outstanding balance was sent.  

Recommendations: 

• To improve the consistency and efficiency of the collections process, the Contractor should 
develop and implement a policy that includes:  

o Definitive timelines to guide its collections activities, including timing that maximizes the 
potential for payment collection 

o Requirements to treat outstanding balances equally, regardless of whether they are 
related to the Contractor’s invoices or the City’s invoices 

• The Contractor should increase the frequency at which it refers accounts to collections agency 
in order to minimize delays and increase the possibility of collection.  



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 44 

• The Contractor should develop reports and regularly provide these to the City to demonstrate 
ongoing adherence to these timelines. For example, reports should show the timing when each 
invoice is issued, internal collections activities such as skip tracing are performed, and referrals 
are made to collections.  

• Using the reports provided, the City should perform ongoing monitoring to ensure that the City 
is performing billing and collections activities in a timely manner. 

22. Finding: Limited reporting is provided to the City about collections activities. 

Within the Contractor’s records management system, staff record outstanding balances referred to 
the collections agency as write-offs. While this practice is reasonable for the Contractor’s own 
accounting purposes, there is currently limited information being provided to the City to facilitate 
ongoing monitoring of these collections activities. For example, the Contractor does not regularly 
provide the City with detailed information showing the accounts that have been referred to 
collections, the status of those collections, and the overall success rate of these collections. Without 
this information, the City cannot adequately monitor the collections activities or associated revenue 
collected. 

Recommendations: 

• The Contractor and the collections agency should regularly provide the City with required 
information to facilitate oversight of collections referrals and revenue collected.  

• The City’s Finance Department should work with the Contractor to obtain, analyze, and 
monitor the collections agency’s collection rate information. Following the implementation of 
more prompt and consistent collections practices, the Finance Department should monitor the 
collections rate to ensure that it is within the industry’s expected range. 

23. Finding: Payments to the City are delayed longer than payments to the Contractor. 

We reviewed the total payments received by the Contractor and the City for the sample calls 
selected. We found that the Contractor received $31,750 and the City received $9,972. We compared 
the timing lag between the payment receipt and the ambulance call date. We found that on average 
the Contractor collected payment roughly 61 days after the ambulance call date. In contrast, we 
found that the City received payments roughly 96 days after the ambulance call date. 

Similarly, we found that when comparing the receipt of the same payment type that there were 
delays between when the Contractor received payment and when the City received payment. For 
example, on average, the check payments for the Contractor were received and recorded almost 30 
days before the City received check payments. Similarly, within our sampled calls, we found that the 
Contractor received credit card payments in an average of 92 days and EFT payments in an average 
of 47 days. In comparison, the City received payment from these sources on average within 101 
days.  



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 45 

The Contractor’s current recordkeeping for payment types may make monitoring of payment 
methods and speed cumbersome. Based on the Contractor’s payment records to the City between 
January 2013 and December 2015, we found that there were 19 different payment codes recorded. 
Many of these payment types were duplicative and have since been consolidated. In mid-2015, the 
Contractor modified its payment remittance methods by increasing the transfer of funds to the City 
through ACH. Although these changes are improvements, additional changes are likely necessary to 
facilitate full accountability and effective oversight by the City.  

Recommendation: 

• In collaboration with the City, the Contractor should develop mechanisms to demonstrate the 
speed with which payments are being received, processed, and deposited to the City’s account.  

24. Finding: There is lag time between the date the Contractor is preparing its deposit slips and 
the date it is making the bank deposit.  

We reviewed the deposit records for the payments the Contractor made to the City. We analyzed the 
records for 68 deposits that occurred between January 1, 2015 and December 31, 2015. We found 
that, on average, deposits were made to the bank almost five days after the deposit slip was 
prepared. In particular, we found that in 26 instances, six days or more elapsed between deposit slip 
preparation and bank deposit. We found that in three instances 15 days elapsed between deposit 
slip preparation and deposit. While the Contractor reports storing all payments securely, any delays 
in depositing funds increases the risk of misappropriated assets and reduces cash flow for the City.  

Recommendations: 

• The Contractor should consider possible improvements to increase the speed with which 
payments are deposited.  

25. Finding: The Contractor’s current processes for processing check payments for the City 
results in revenue realization delays for the City.  

In addition to the lag time we observed between deposit preparation and deposits, we observed an 
apparent lag time between when checks are received by the Contractor and when they are 
deposited into the City’s account. To review the time between payment dates and deposit dates, we 
reviewed the dates of checks from the collections agency. We found that for the 12 checks deposited 
during calendar year 2015, there was an average of more than 18 days between the check date and 
deposit date. Currently, the Contractor receives checks on behalf of the City, but it waits to deposit 
these until a full-time employee is available to take these to the bank. Although limiting bank deposit 
transports to full-time employees rather than part-time employees is a responsible practice, this 
practice delays the deposits and increases the chance of check payments being returned for 
insufficient funds. Based on our review of deposits into the City’s account, the deposits are 
composed largely of checks, on average 20 per deposit. Given the inherent challenges in collections 
for ambulance services, it is critical that payments are processed as quickly as possible and that 
checks are not allowed to age. 



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 46 

Recommendations: 

• To increase the speed with which checks are deposited, the Contractor should obtain and 
implement the use of a remote check scanner.  

26. Finding: The current processes for processing credit card payments for the City results in 
revenue realization delays for the City.  

The City has a web-based system for processing credit card payments. However, the Contractor does 
not have access to the City’s credit card system and, therefore, cannot directly process credit card 
payments for the City. Instead, the Contractor has to process credit card payments for the City on its 
own credit card system and transfer this money to the City through the ACH process. Not only does 
this create confusion for customers because their credit card receipt says the name of the Contractor 
instead of the City, but it also delays the speed with which the City receives revenue. 

Recommendations: 

• In collaboration with the City’s Finance Department, the Contractor should explore options to 
use the City’s web-based credit card processing system, such as providing the Contractor with a 
login to directly process credit card payments.  

27. Finding: Although the Finance Department has recently developed a process for reconciling 
revenue collection, the process has not been institutionalized yet.  

In 2015, Moss Adams performed a citywide Internal Controls Review and noted weaknesses in the 
reconciliation of ambulance billing and revenue collection. The audit report included a 
recommendation for the Fire Department to perform monthly reconciliations between the reports 
received from the Contractor and the City’s own records. Following this recommendation, the City 
assigned Finance Department staff to help the Fire Department develop an effective and efficient 
reconciliation process. In April 2016, staff issued an internal memo reporting the results of this 
project.  

Many of the issues and challenges noted within the City’s memo were issues we encountered 
through our own fieldwork for this engagement. For example, the Finance staff noted challenges in 
the manual process for comparing information from the Fire Department’s systems to the 
Contractor’s system reports. Similarly, the Finance staff noted the lack of detail or supporting 
documentation currently provided by the Contractor. 

Based on our review of this memo, the Finance staff has developed a solid process to begin 
reconciling ambulance services provided, billing, and revenue collection. Overall, we agree with the 
actions recommended by the Finance Department. As noted within this report, there are additional 
improvements we recommend to maximize the integrity and accuracy of the reconciliation process. 
Given the significant lag time involved in medical billing and payment, it is important for the City to 
develop a process to monitor non-payment from month-to-month.  



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 47 

Recommendations: 

• As indicated in the April 2016 memo, the City should begin monitoring the services provided to 
BLS transports in order to determine whether ALS billing should be performed and revenue 
collected by the City.  

• To improve the accuracy of gross fees charged, the City should work with the Contractor to 
explore opportunities to revise billing practices for BLS transports not provided ALS services. 
For example, the City could propose that no City billing is generated for BLS transports without 
ALS services.  

• The Finance Department should consider how to incorporate the following additional 
monitoring efforts into the proposed monthly processed: 

o Referral to collections agency including timing and success rate 

o Rate of revenue collection by the City versus the Contractor 

o Speed of revenue collection by the City versus the Contractor 

• In collaboration with the Finance Department, the Contractor should develop and provide 
reporting information to the City for assurance of initial billing activities (explanation why no 
billing) and any account adjustments that occur after initial billing, such as “BLS Service Only.”  

• In collaboration with the Finance Department, the Contractor should develop and provide 
reporting information to the City with reliable patient coverage information. 

• In collaboration with the Finance Department, the Contractor should modify its aging reports 
to provide adequate detail to the City to allow ongoing monitoring of revenue collection.  

• The City should monitor medical supplies fees for all transports.  

28. Finding: Current billing practices may not maximize the City’s ability to capture revenue for 
its ambulance services.  

With the exception of Medicare, which requires bundled billing, the Contractor currently issues 
separate invoices for its own ambulance services and the City’s ambulance services. This practice is 
in accordance with the City’s contract and allows the Contractor to clearly account for its own billing 
versus the City’s billing. However, the submission of two invoices for a single ambulance call creates 
some challenges. In particular, instead of creating and submitting one invoice for one ambulance 
call, which includes both ALS and BLS services, the Contractor has to create two separate invoices 
for these services. Therefore, instead of using the billing codes for ALS transport, the Contractor 
must use separate billing codes on each of the invoices for the BLS transport service and the 
additional ALS services provided. The codes used to bill these additional ALS services are less 
commonly used and are therefore more likely to result in the denial of payment by insurance 
companies. Within the ambulance billing industry, there is a shift towards bundling bills for all calls, 
not just Medicare calls.  



 

 

 

City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review Final Report 10-12-16 | 48 

Additionally, when two invoices are submitted to an insurance company for payment, the insurance 
company may approve and submit payment for one invoice and deny the claim for the other. This is 
more likely to occur when the invoices are not submitted at the same time, which is an issue that 
was observed in some of the calls within our sample. Similarly, the receipt of two invoices for a 
single ambulance call can also create confusion for patients who directly receive bills.  

The practice of separate billing versus bundled billing for calls creates additional challenges for the 
Contractor to perform its billing and collection duties, as well as additional work for the City to 
monitor these bills and associated revenue. To ensure revenue collection, the Contractor has to 
monitor and follow up on collections for accounts on its own behalf as well as the City’s. As 
discussed earlier, we observed instances where collections activities were not always performed in 
a coordinated manner, a challenge that is created by separate billing. Moreover, to ensure that 
billing is being performed appropriately, the City must review both the invoice issued on behalf of 
the City as well as the Contractor’s own invoice. For example, if the City reviews only the invoices 
billed on its behalf, then it will not know if the billings included on the Contractor’s invoices are also 
appropriate. Similarly, with revenue collection performed separately for each type of invoice, the 
City must review the records of revenue collection and remit to the City, as well as revenue collected 
and retained by the Contractor in order to have a full picture of revenue collection activities.  

Recommendations: 

• When developing its next ambulance billing contract, the City should explore the option of 
bundled billing. The City should develop methods to monitor billing practices and revenue 
collection activities in an efficient and effective manner. Where appropriate, the City should 
consider incorporating monitoring and reporting requirements into the City’s next ambulance 
billing contract.  

• The City should work with its current Contractor to discuss the ability to shift to bundled 
billing.  

 



 

 

 

 

 

 



Agenda Item 6b: 

 

AC SMFD Billing Audit Response Letter 10‐2016 



 
1059 East Bedmar Street 
Carson, California  90746 

Office:  (310) 835-9390 
Fax:  (310) 835-3926 

             Internet:  americare.org 
 
 
October 11, 2016 Sent via e-mail to:  Gigi.Decavalles-Hughes@smgov.net 
 
 
 
Gigi Decavalles-Hughes 
Director of Finance 
City of Santa Monica 
1717 Fourth Street, Suite 250 
Santa Monica CA 90401 
 
Re: City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Audit 
 
Dear Ms. Decavalles-Hughes: 
 
Thank you for providing AmeriCare this opportunity for our firm to submit a response to the audit of the City’s 
Ambulance Contract Billing recently performed by Moss Adams.  Scilla Outcault, from Moss Adams worked with 
our staff and we appreciated the opportunity to participate in this review. 
 
We have reviewed the draft report issued by Moss Adams providing their findings and recommendations and 
are pleased to offer our comments related to the report for your review and consideration.   
 
1. Record keeping accuracy. 
 
 AmeriCare agrees with the findings for this item:  
 

• However, the sequence numbers are not used by AmeriCare anywhere in the billing process. 
 AmeriCare uses incident numbers as our internal tracking due to the fact that the incident numbers 
 come to us on the daily reports.  
 
• AmeriCare will add an audit qualifier of the pick-up address into their QA process. Often the address 
 that we get initially upon dispatch is just a cross street or incomplete address and later the proper 
 address is identified. It may be the case where the City or AmeriCare does not update to the most 
 current address available. AmeriCare's billing system recognizes addresses and gives the choice of 
 adding that to the information in the billing system. 
 
• The City of Santa Monica checks ALS and BLS on their PCR based on actual transport with paramedic 
 on board or not. AmeriCare determines if an ALS intervention was performed, and chooses the correct 
 level of service based on the intervention and/or transport with paramedics. If the patient is transported 
 with paramedics on board, ALS is always billed. If the paramedics did not transport with the patient, 
 then AmeriCare's billers determine if an ALS intervention was performed. The County of Los Angeles, 
 nor Medicare (the guidelines that are followed for billing), do not specify what the criteria for an ALS 
 intervention is. AmeriCare adopted the intervention billing practices as set forth by the County of 
 Orange which is if one of three procedures are performed: a pulse ox (no longer used as a qualifier in 
 late 2016 as it is now a BLS intervention), EKG, or blood glucose. If one of those tests were performed, 
 then ALS may still be billed, but that would be different from what is seen on either PCR.  
 
• BLS only transports are documented in the patient's account; however they are not billable per the 
 contract and County guidelines. 

 
2. Rates not always at proper county rates. 
 
 AmeriCare agrees with the finding for this item: 

Caring . . . Compassion . . . Courtesy – AmeriCare Ambulance Service – Dedicated to its employees 
 



Gigi Decavalles-Hughes, Director of Finance 
City of Santa Monica 
Contractor’s Response to Ambulance Billing Audit Report 
October 11, 2016 
Page 2 of 6 

 

              
 • The LA County rates that were effective on 7/1/15 were not entered into the system until mid-July which 
  resulted in some transports in early July that were billed immediately to be sent to payors at the  
  previous rates. This was an error by AmeriCare. AmeriCare will review billings that were affected by the 
  delay in entering the LA County rates and reimburse any entities due a refund for overpayment. 
 
3. County's new rates will yield less revenue. 
 
 AmeriCare disagrees with the findings for this item. 
 
 • Pursuant to 5.1.2 of the agreement, the ALSAF fee continues to be calculated as the difference  
  between the ALS and BLS County rates which currently represents $632. Additionally pursuant to 5.1.3 
  of the agreement, AmeriCare recommends that the City of Santa Monica continue to bill, on City  
  invoices, an emergency response fee (lights and sirens) of $126.75 for the fire department’s   
  responding apparatus as approved by the City Council. This rate is unaffected and not governed by the 
  County of Los Angeles but set by the City Council as it is not applicable to the contractor’s ambulance  
  vehicle.  
 
4. Billing for pulse ox was inconsistent. 
 

AmeriCare agrees with the findings for this item. 
 
 • AmeriCare will add in additional QA to identify and correct inconsistencies in the billing process.  
  Training and written documentation will be issued in order to ensure to the best of our ability that the  
  billing for both the AmeriCare portion of Santa Monica 911 calls as well as the Santa Monica portion  
  are billed consistently and appropriately based on County and CMS guidelines. 
 
5. O2 inconsistencies in record keeping 
 
 AmeriCare partially disagrees with the findings for this item. 
 
 • Santa Monica fire department documents all treatments/interventions that were rendered by the fire  
  department on their PCRs. AmeriCare documents AmeriCare’s treatments/interventions on the  
  AmeriCare PCR. If the patient was transported BLS, without Fire on board, and oxygen was   
  administered by AmeriCare, then AmeriCare would have been the one to document the administration  
  of oxygen.  It appears there may be an assumption that oxygen was provided by both SMFD personnel 
  and AmeriCare personnel.  In some cases, AmeriCare staff may have administered on scene and  
  during transport.  AmeriCare billing staff look to documentation on both SMFD PCRs and AmeriCare  
  PCRs to determine appropriateness of specific charges for specific interventions, supplies and   
  services provided by both SMFD and AmeriCare personnel. 
 
6. O2 not always charges when performed. 
 
 AmeriCare agrees with the findings for this item. 
 
 • AmeriCare will add in additional QA to identify and correct inconsistencies in the billing process.  
  Training and written documentation will be issued in order to ensure to the best of our ability that the  
  billing for both the AmeriCare portion of Santa Monica 911 calls as well as the Santa Monica portion  
  are billed consistently and appropriately based on County and CMS guidelines. 
 
7. O2 charges not always consistent with county rates.  
 
 AmeriCare agrees with the findings for this item. 
 
 • The LA County rates that were effective on 7/1/15 were not entered into the system until mid-July which 
  resulted in some transports in early July that were billed immediately to be sent to payors at the  

Caring . . . Compassion . . . Courtesy – AmeriCare Ambulance Service – Dedicated to its employees 
 



Gigi Decavalles-Hughes, Director of Finance 
City of Santa Monica 
Contractor’s Response to Ambulance Billing Audit Report 
October 11, 2016 
Page 3 of 6 

 

              
  previous rates. This was an error by AmeriCare. AmeriCare will review billings that were affected by the 
  delay in entering the LA County rates and reimburse any entities due a refund for overpayment. 
 
8. Inconsistencies in records related to additional treatments. 
 
 AmeriCare partially agrees with the findings of this item: 
 
 • The employees of AmeriCare and Santa Monica Fire only document treatments/interventions that each 
  entity actually performed.  
 
9. Lost potential revenue due to not billing additional treatments. 
 
 AmeriCare partially agrees with the findings of this item: 
 
 • AmeriCare will add in additional QA to identify and correct inconsistencies in the billing process.  
  Training and written documentation will be issued in order to ensure to the best of our ability that the  
  billing for both the AmeriCare portion of Santa Monica 911 calls as well as the Santa Monica portion  
  are billed consistently and appropriately based on County and CMS guidelines. 
 
10. Not all night service fees were correct. 
 
 AmeriCare agrees with the findings for this item. 
 
 • The LA County rates that were effective on 7/1/15 were not entered into the system until mid-July which 
  resulted in some transports in early July that were billed immediately to be sent to payors at the  
  previous rates. This was an error by AmeriCare. AmeriCare will review billings that were affected by the 
  delay in entering the LA County rates and reimburse any entities due a refund for overpayment. 
 
11. Billing of night calls are inconsistent.  
 
 AmeriCare agrees with the findings for this item. 
 
 • AmeriCare will add in additional QA to identify and correct inconsistencies in the billing process.  
  Training and written documentation will be issued in order to ensure to the best of our ability that the  
  billing for both the AmeriCare portion of Santa Monica 911 calls as well as the Santa Monica portion  
  are billed consistently and appropriately based on County and CMS guidelines. 
 
12. Code 3 charges not consistent with County's intentions.  
 
 AmeriCare disagrees with the findings for this item. 
 
 • Pursuant to 5.1 in the contract, AmeriCare bills an emergency response fee for the City’s response as a 
  separate vehicle apparatus response for each patient transported.  This fee is not governed by the  
  County of Los Angeles and is set by the City Council.   AmeriCare also bills for its emergency response 
  as an ambulance response pursuant to the county code and established fees for ambulance responses 
  and/or transports.  
 
13. Documentation regarding transportation not complete.  
 
 AmeriCare partially disagrees with the findings for this item. 
 
 • AmeriCare bills for the code 3 charge of lights and sirens on the AmeriCare bills based on the EMTs  
  documentation on the PCR.  However, AmeriCare will add in additional QA to identify and correct  
  inconsistencies in the billing process. Training and written documentation will be issued in order to  
  ensure to the best of our ability that the billing for both the AmeriCare portion of Santa Monica 911 calls  

Caring . . . Compassion . . . Courtesy – AmeriCare Ambulance Service – Dedicated to its employees 
 



Gigi Decavalles-Hughes, Director of Finance 
City of Santa Monica 
Contractor’s Response to Ambulance Billing Audit Report 
October 11, 2016 
Page 4 of 6 

 

              
  as well as the SMFD portion are billed consistently and appropriately based on County and CMS  
  guidelines. 
 
 14. Calls charges mileage in excess of County established rates.  
 
 AmeriCare agrees with the findings for this item. 
 
 • The LA County rates that were effective on 7/1/15 were not entered into the system until mid-July which 
  resulted in some transports in early July that were billed immediately to be sent to payors at the  
  previous rates. This was an error by AmeriCare. AmeriCare will review billings that were affected by the 
  delay in entering the LA County rates and reimburse any entities due a refund for overpayment. 
 
15. Inconsistencies in miles recorded and billed.  
 
 AmeriCare agrees with the findings for this item. 
 
 • AmeriCare will add in additional QA to identify and correct inconsistencies in the billing process.  
  Training and written documentation will be issued in order to ensure to the best of our ability that the  
  billing for both the AmeriCare portion of Santa Monica 911 calls as well as the Santa Monica portion  
  are billed consistently and appropriately based on County and CMS guidelines. 
 
16. Mileage record keeping and billing may have compounding impact.  
 
 AmeriCare agrees with the findings for this item. 
 
 • The LA County rates that were effective on 7/1/15 were not entered into the system until mid-July which 
  resulted in some transports in early July that were billed immediately to be sent to payors at the  
  previous rates. This was an error by AmeriCare. AmeriCare will review billings that were affected by the 
  delay in entering the LA County rates and reimburse any entities due a refund for overpayment. All  
  County rates are entered into the billing system prior to any new billings for the covered time periods,  
  therefore no compounding impact of the mileage rates.  
 
17. Lack of clarity about billing practices creates uncertainty.  
 
 AmeriCare agrees with the findings for this item. 
 
18. Inconsistencies in the timeliness of billing.  
 
 AmeriCare disagrees with the findings for this item. 
 
 • AmeriCare bills both the AmeriCare portion of the transport as well as the SMFD portion of the   
  transport simultaneously. AmeriCare is able to submit claims for AmeriCare transports electronically  
  which speeds up the process on submittal and collections. The City claims are sent on paper claims  
  and have a slightly longer turnaround based on the mode of delivery.  There are several other factors  
  that create discrepancies in the billing processes between the two entities. AmeriCare has a clearly  
  defined hardship policy in which AmeriCare can accept payments, discounts, etc on the AmeriCare  
  portion of the billing. The City of Santa Monica has not adopted such a policy, therefore calls are sent to 
  collections or may sit unpaid without the ability to accept payments or discount based on hardship  
  needs. The ALSAF fee is not a recognized charge by the majority of insurances, however the   
  ambulance transport is. This often results in prompt payment of the ambulance transport and can result 
  in a denial as a non-covered service for the ALSAF portion.  
 
19. Accounting practices could compromise the accuracy City's records.  
 
 AmeriCare agrees with the findings for this item. 
 

Caring . . . Compassion . . . Courtesy – AmeriCare Ambulance Service – Dedicated to its employees 
 



Gigi Decavalles-Hughes, Director of Finance 
City of Santa Monica 
Contractor’s Response to Ambulance Billing Audit Report 
October 11, 2016 
Page 5 of 6 

 

              
 • AmeriCare will add in additional QA to identify and correct inconsistencies in the billing process.  
  Training and written documentation will be issued in order to ensure to the best of our ability that the  
  billing for both the AmeriCare portion of Santa Monica 911 calls as well as the Santa Monica portion  
  are billed and reimbursed consistently and appropriately based on County and CMS guidelines.  
  AmeriCare will supply the City of Santa Monica any necessary records to help in the reconciliation  
  process for fees owed to the city. 
 
20. Current practices do not assure revenue distributed properly.  
 
 AmeriCare agrees with the findings for this item. 
 
 • AmeriCare will add in additional QA to identify and correct inconsistencies in the billing process.  
  Training and written documentation will be issued in order to ensure to the best of our ability that the  
  billing for both the AmeriCare portion of Santa Monica 911 calls as well as the Santa Monica portion  
  are billed and reimbursed consistently and appropriately based on County and CMS guidelines.  
  AmeriCare will supply the City of Santa Monica any necessary records to help in the reconciliation  
  process for fees owed to the city. 
 
21. Referral to collections are inconsistent.  
 
 AmeriCare partially agrees with the findings for this item. 
 
 • AmeriCare sends accounts to collections monthly, but can increase the submittals at the City’s request.  
 
22. Limited reporting is provided to the City about collections activity.  
 
 AmeriCare agrees with the findings for this item. 
 
 • AmeriCare will work with the outside collection agency used for both portions of the Santa Monica fire  
  billing in order to obtain the necessary information to reconcile the revenue as well as ensure the  
  proper actions taken on all accounts.  
 
23. Payments to the City delayed longer than to the contractor.  
 
 AmeriCare partially disagrees with the findings for this item. 
 
 • AmeriCare bills both the AmeriCare portion of the transport as well as the Santa Monica portion of the  
  transport simultaneously. AmeriCare is able to submit claims for AmeriCare transports electronically  
  which speeds up the process on submittal and collections. The City claims are sent on paper claims  
  and have a slightly longer turnaround based on the mode of delivery. There are several other factors  
  that create discrepancies in the billing processes between the two entities.  
 
 • AmeriCare has a clearly defined hardship policy in which AmeriCare can accept payments, discounts,  
  etc. on the AmeriCare portion of the billing. The City of Santa Monica has not adopted such a policy,  
  therefore calls are sent to collections or may sit unpaid without the ability to accept payments or  
  discount based on hardship needs. The ALSAF fee is not a recognized charge by the majority of  
  insurances, however the ambulance transport is. This often results in prompt payment of the   
  ambulance transport and can result in a denial as a non-covered service for the ALSAF portion. Upon  
  an appeal, many of these denied services are paid, however the timeframe that they are paid is greater 
  than the AmeriCare portion that is readily reimbursed.  
 
24. Lag time between deposit preparation and actual deposit.  
 
 AmeriCare agrees with the findings for this item. 
 

Caring . . . Compassion . . . Courtesy – AmeriCare Ambulance Service – Dedicated to its employees 
 



Gigi Decavalles-Hughes, Director of Finance 
City of Santa Monica 
Contractor’s Response to Ambulance Billing Audit Report 
October 11, 2016 
Page 6 of 6 

 

              
 • AmeriCare is working with the City to obtain a check scanner in order to make daily deposits into the  
  Santa Monica Fire account. At this time, deposits are made weekly on behalf of Santa Monica.  
 
25. Check payment process creates delays 
 
 AmeriCare agrees with the findings for this item. 
 
 • AmeriCare is working with the City to obtain a check scanner in order to make daily deposits into the  
  Santa Monica Fire account. At this time, deposits are made weekly on behalf of Santa Monica.  
 
26. Credit card payment process creates delays.  
 
 AmeriCare agrees with the findings for this item. 
 
 • AmeriCare has requested the ability to use the City’s credit card system to process credit card   
  payments which would ensure quick funding into the Santa Monica account.  
 
27. The Finance Department has developed a process for reconciling revenue.  
 
 AmeriCare agrees with the findings for this item. 
 
 • AmeriCare is happy to help with this process in any way possible. 
 
28. Current practices may not maximize revenue realization.  
 
 AmeriCare partially agrees with the findings for this item. 
 
 • AmeriCare agrees that exploring bundled billing for all SMFD transports would streamline the process  
  and ensure more timely reimbursement based on the fact that emergency ambulance transportation is  
  a readily covered service by insurers for most of the services provided by SMFD.  However, some line  
  items may require the continuance of separate invoice billing on SMFD invoices. 
 
In closing, please know AmeriCare values its contractual relationship with the City of Santa Monica and is 
committed to working with City staff to implement the recommended operational enhancements set forth in the 
auditor’s report as directed by the City.   
 
If we can assist with any questions or additional information, either Stephanie Carlson or I am available as 
needed. 
 
Sincerely,  

 
Mike Summers 
President/CEO 
 
Cc: Jeff Furrows (via e-mail:  jeff.furrows@smgov.net) 
 Bill Walker (via e-mail:  bill.walker@smgov.net) 
 Mark Steranka (via e-mail:  mark.steranka@mossadams.com) 
 Scilla Outcault (via e-mail:  scilla.outcault@mossadams.com) 
 

Caring . . . Compassion . . . Courtesy – AmeriCare Ambulance Service – Dedicated to its employees 
 



Agenda Item 6c: 

 

City of Santa Monica Policy Validation Results 

10‐10‐16 



 

City of Santa Monica Policy Validation Results 10-10-16 | 1 

City of Santa Monica 
Policy Validation 

Control Objectives 
Relevant Recommendation or  

Management Response Excerpt Status 
A. Payroll A2. Document the process and procedures for ensuring the 

application of appropriate pay rates, including the use of 
queries. 

Validated 

B. Purchasing and 
Accounts Payable 

B3. Roles and responsibilities are defined within the 
purchasing card manual for reviewing transactions for 
accuracy and 
appropriateness. 

Validated 

B. Purchasing and 
Accounts Payable 

B5. Purchasing Card Violation Program Validated 

B. Purchasing and 
Accounts Payable 

B8. This new form will be added to the Accounts Payable 
policy, which is currently being updated. 

Validated 

C. Monthly Account 
Reconciliation and 
Closing 

C1. Update the documented process for performing the 
monthly bank reconciliation based on any process change. 

Validated 

D. Grants 
Management 

D1. Adopt Grants Administrative Instruction Pending 
Final Review 

D. Grants 
Management 

D2. Develop written procedures in accordance with 
new Uniform Grant Guidance that address key 
compliance requirements that are applicable to 
the City. 

Pending 
Final Review 

E. Revenue and 
Cash Collections 

E1. The Finance Department, ISD, and BBB should finalize and 
disseminate their intradepartmental Policies and Procedures 
for Counting Room Access. 

Validated 

E. Revenue and 
Cash Collections 

E7. Incorporate process into Counting Room procedures for 
Counting Room staff to report inoperable equipment, 
including how to escalate issues to Department of Finance 
management if not promptly resolved. 

Validated 

E. Revenue and 
Cash Collections 

E12. The Fire Department should perform reconciliations 
between the reports it receives from AmeriCare on a monthly 
basis and its own records. 

Validated 

F. Account 
Receivable 

F1. The Billing and Collections unit will complete standard 
policies and procedures during the next year. 

Draft 

F. Account 
Receivable 

F2. Update citywide billing and collections policy Draft 



 

City of Santa Monica Policy Validation Results 10-10-16 | 2 

 
Legend: 

 

 

Validated: Verified documented policy, procedure, or 
Administrative Instruction addresses internal controls 
finding or element of finding. 

 

 

Pending Final Review:  Documented policy, procedure, or 
Administrative Instruction is pending final review by the City 
Attorney's Office and/or City Manager's Office.  

 

 

Draft:  Documented policy, procedure, or Administrative 
Instruction is in draft form.  

  



Agenda Item 7a: 

 

Internal Controls Review Progress Report October 

2016 



  October 18, 2016 
 

1 
 

  
 
 

INTERNAL CONTROLS REVIEW PROGRESS REPORT 
Yellow highlighted items have been completed/validated since last report in August 2016 

 
INTERNAL AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS TRACKING 

CONTROL 
OBJECTIVE # LIKELIHOOD  IMPACT SUBJECT  ACTION STATUS 

RECOMMENDATIONS ADDRESSED THROUGH INTERNAL AUDIT WORK PLANS 

Monthly 
Reconciliation 1 High  High 

Bank 
Reconciliation 

Internal Audit: prepare 
documentation 
 
Finance:  create bank 
reconciliation procedures 

Completed/Validated. Management has implemented a 
streamlined methodology and procedures; including 
streamlining the process between Accounting and 
Treasury functions. The methodology and process have 
been incorporated into the updated bank reconciliation 
desk procedure. 

Revenue and 
Cash 

2, 
8, 
9 High Moderate Cash Handling 

Internal Audit: update policies 
and procedures and 
provide training 
Finance:  implement Internal 
Auditor recommendations 

Pending Review. Cash handling process improvements, 
including issuance of standard policies and procedures and 
citywide training, will be implemented upon the 
completion of the internal auditor cash handling review. 

Accounts 
Receivable  
 
Revenue and 
Cash 

1 
 
12, 
13 High High 

Accounts 
Receivable 

Internal Audit: assess A/R, 
inventory, ambulance billing, 
fees and invoicing 
 
Finance:  implement A/R 
module in new ERP system; 
complete billing and collections 
procedures 

Pending Review and ERP. 
 Internal Auditor will be reviewing citywide A/R functions 

in Spring 2017.  
 The ERP, with a new centralized A/R capability, will be 

operational on July 1, 2017.  
 Financial Operations staff is now auditing off-site A/R 

functions, reconciling balances to the general ledger, and 
providing corrections and training on processes. 

 Validated: Internal Auditor has completed an audit of 
the City’s ambulance contract, and City staff has 
developed a reconciliation process.    

 The Billing & Collections unit completed billing and 
collections procedures and took on billing functions for 
fire inspections, the Swim Center, certain Police 
Department billings, and billings for special events.  
Staff collected 56% of the total amount of delinquent 
accounts processed, and the City’s collection agency 
collected about 11% of the amount referred, significantly 
higher than the collection rate for local government debt 
collection.  



  October 18, 2016 
 

2 
 

INTERNAL AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS TRACKING 
CONTROL 

OBJECTIVE # LIKELIHOOD  IMPACT SUBJECT  ACTION STATUS 

Revenue and 
Cash  
 
Training 

3 
 
1 High Moderate 

Fraud and 
Internal 
Controls Perform training 

Pending Review. 
 Validated:Written Counting Room procedures, including 

internal control practices, are completed and 
implemented. Further improvements are pending the 
Cash Handling review. 

 Internal Auditor provided fraud and internal controls 
training overview in September 2016. Supervisor 
Handbook has been distributed to all Supervisors.  Ethics 
code has been adopted by Council and an Administrative 
Instruction was distributed to staff in July 2016.  

Revenue and 
Cash 10 Moderate Moderate 

Internal 
Controls 

Implement Internal Auditor 
recommendations 

Pending Review. 
Cash handing process improvements, including issuance of 
standard policies and procedures and citywide training. 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS THAT HAVE DISCRETE TASKS THAT ARE EASILY IMPLEMENTED 

CONTROL 
OBJECTIVE # LIKELIHOOD  IMPACT SUBJECT  ACTION STATUS 

Revenue and 
Cash 1 High High 

Counting 
Room 

Finalize draft access policies, 
and distribute and 
maintain log book 

Completed/Validated. Counting room security policies 
and procedures have been distributed to staff and a log 
book documenting visitor entry is now in use.  

Purchasing and 
A/P 1 High High A/P 

Disseminate existing policies 
and procedures, and 
provide training 

Completed. Accounts Payable procedures are complete, 
along with the User Training Manual.  A/P training 
continues to be provided to staff Citywide.     

Revenue and 
Cash 5 Moderate  High 

Cash 
Transport 

Select secure method for cash 
transport 

Pending Review. There are armored transport pickups at 
three sites, which represent the majority of cash collected. 
It is not economical to provide armored car pickup for all 
the 50 cash collection sites in the City.  However, staff will 
consider other options for secure transport (such as check 
scanning) while undertaking the cash handling review. 

Revenue and 
Cash 4 High Moderate Storage 

Lock cabinets and secure keys, 
issue permits in 
sequential order, and reconcile 
permit system and POS 

Completed. Finance has worked with Parking Operations 
staff to implement improvements, including secure storage 
of permits and logging of permit numbers. Written 
procedures have been drafted and implemented.  

Revenue and 
Cash 7 Moderate Moderate 

Counting 
Room 

Repair closed circuit monitor, 
and revise policy 

Completed/Validated. Counting Room monitor has been 
repaired and is in working order. Staff has been advised to 
report inoperable equipment to management. Staff will 
also be reviewing coverage of cameras to ensure 
maximum security.  A new Treasury Administrator position 
will provide further supervision of the Counting Room 
operations and equipment needs.   

Purchasing and 
A/P 5 Moderate Moderate P-Cards 

Provide consistent 
enforcement 

Completed/Validated. The purchasing card violation 
program, which includes penalties, was formalized and 



  October 18, 2016 
 

3 
 

INTERNAL AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS TRACKING 
CONTROL 

OBJECTIVE # LIKELIHOOD  IMPACT SUBJECT  ACTION STATUS 
distributed to staff in January 2015, and individual 
department trainings were conducted.  Purchasing notifies 
departments on a monthly basis about outstanding 
receipts and status of violations.  A purchasing card 
agreement has been signed by all purchasing card users in 
addition to cardholders to ensure knowledge of the 
enforcement system.  

Revenue and 
Cash 6 Moderate Moderate 

Counting 
Room Ensure policy compliance 

Completed.  Staff has been reminded of policies 
regarding use of pocketless smocks in the Counting Room 
and has been equipped with new pocketless smocks which 
are being commercially laundered.  

Grants 
Management 1 Moderate Moderate Grants 

Adopt draft Administrative 
Instruction 

Completed.  A Grants Administrative Instruction has been 
completed.  

Revenue and 
Cash 14 Low Moderate Safes Obtain safe 

Pending Review. Treasury staff sent a notice to all cash 
handling locations reminding them of the need to store 
currency (cash/checks) and items of monetary value in 
secure locations.  Further review and site-specific 
recommendations will be implemented along with the cash 
handling review. 

Payroll 
 

6 
 

Moderate 
 

Low 
 

Overtime 
 

Track overtime errors, and 
provide training 

Completed. Guidelines have been incorporated in 
supervisor handbook. 

Purchasing and 
A/P 6 Low Low A/P Queries 

Document process, and 
perform monitoring 

Completed.  Staff is continuing to monitor all warrants to 
ensure that cumulative vendor limits do not exceed 
procurement policy parameters.  Desk procedures and the 
A/P User Training Guide have both been updated to reflect 
the $10,000 threshold. Procurement staff is monitoring 
purchase orders and contracts. 

Purchasing and 
A/P 7 Low Low 

Duplicate 
Payments 

Increase frequency of 
monitoring 

Completed.  Staff now conducts monthly duplicate 
payment monitoring rather than quarterly monitoring. 

       
RECOMMENDATIONS TO BE IMPLEMENTED BY THE CITY THAT WILL TAKE TIME TO IMPLEMENT 

CONTROL 
OBJECTIVE # LIKELIHOOD  IMPACT SUBJECT  ACTION STATUS 

Payroll 1 High Moderate 

On boarding 
and off 
boarding 

Perform process development 
and documentation 

Pending ERP System.  
While current payroll policies and procedures include 
processes payroll staff can control when notified of an 
employee’s termination (i.e., verification that additional 
pays have end dates and the appropriate deductions will 
be taken from the final check), the new ERP system will 
make it possible to keep track of equipment issued to 
employees and allow new policies to be implemented such 



  October 18, 2016 
 

4 
 

INTERNAL AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS TRACKING 
CONTROL 

OBJECTIVE # LIKELIHOOD  IMPACT SUBJECT  ACTION STATUS 
as deducting the value of outstanding equipment from 
final paychecks if not returned, and will have better 
workflow capability to allow the appropriate departments 
to be notified when key events happen.  

Purchasing and 
A/P 2 High Moderate 

Personnel 
changes 

Perform process development 
and documentation 

Completed.  When an employee terminates employment 
with the City, the purchasing card is one of the items that 
is retrieved along with other City-issued items (badge, 
keys, computer, phone).  The responsibility to cancel the 
card has been incorporated in the Purchasing Card policies 
and procedures.  

Purchasing and 
A/P 3 High Moderate P-card review 

Perform process development 
and documentation 

Completed/Validated. Management believes that 
responsibility for monitoring the appropriateness of 
transactions is clearly assigned and stated in the 
purchasing card policies and procedures and is the 
approver’s responsibility at the department level, rather 
than the responsibility of Finance staff. There is also a 
limited restriction on the use of the card for certain 
purchases (i.e., amusement parks, liquor store purchases, 
are denied upon initial swipe). Finance is conducting spot 
audits of pcard transactions as recommended and 
documented in pcard review procedures.     

Purchasing and 
A/P 4 High Low 

Credit card 
refunds  

Perform process development 
and documentation 

Completed.  Management believes that the controls that 
are in place are sufficient.  Refunds by credit card appear 
on the purchasing card statement and are reviewed and 
approved by department approvers during the 
reconciliation process as if they were a charge.  
Department approvers are managers and department 
heads.  To ensure that staff has a proper understanding of 
the process, a refund process has been incorporated in the 
purchasing card policies and procedures. 

Accounts 
Receivable 2 Moderate Moderate 

Billing and 
Collections 

Develop process, policies, and 
procedures for billing 
and collections 

Pending Review.  As noted above, billing and collection 
procedures are complete. Drafting a separate A/R policy 
will be the joint effort of Accounting and the Revenue 
Division and will be informed by the internal audit A/R 
review. Development of AI will follow final approval of 
policies and procedures.  

Revenue and 
Cash 9 Moderate Moderate Cash handling 

After cash handling audit, 
develop program and perform 
random cash audits 

Pending Review.  As noted above, this will occur after 
internal audit review and recommendations for cash 
handling policy. 

Grants 
Management 2 Moderate Moderate 

Grants 
management 

Hire dedicated position, 
develop policies, provide 
training 

Completed.  Senior Grants Analyst position has been 
created and filled.  Grants administrative instruction has 
been completed.  Training provided on new federal 
reporting guidelines to over 50 City staff in January 2016.    



  October 18, 2016 
 

5 
 

INTERNAL AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS TRACKING 
CONTROL 

OBJECTIVE # LIKELIHOOD  IMPACT SUBJECT  ACTION STATUS 

Payroll 2 Moderate Moderate 
Pay rate 
verification 

Perform process improvement 
and documentation 

Completed/Validated. Finance has a monthly meeting 
with HR to review / refine roles, responsibilities, process 
documentation. 
 
HR has created a query to identify pay rates that do not 
match the agreed upon salary schedules for all job codes. 
Once the query is run and if it returns data, it is the 
responsibility of HR staff to make the corrections and 
notify the employees affected with any potential over or 
underpayments that may have happened as a result of the 
incorrect pay rate.  

Payroll 3 Moderate Moderate Timekeeping 
Implement electronic 
timecards 

Nearing Completion. To accommodate the submission of 
e-timecards by staff in remote locations, staff configured 
the Kronos Mobile module.  However, when the system 
was tested, it was revealed that certain components are 
not compatible with the City’s current mobile 
configurations.  Staff is working with the vendor to find 
solutions. Staff is continuing to work with the City 
Attorney’s Office to implement electronic timekeeping. 

Payroll 4 Moderate Moderate Overtime 
Perform process improvement 
and documentation 

Completed. Management has confirmed that departments 
must be responsible for approving overtime requests and 
reviewing timecards. In general, employees are to receive 
advance authorization for overtime and supervisors 
approve timecards prior to payment.  Guidelines are 
included in the Payroll policies & procedures and are noted 
in the supervisor handbook to be distributed in September 
2016. 

Payroll 5 Moderate Moderate FLSA 
Monitor supplemental 
timecards 

Completed.  A process is in place.  The new ERP system 
will alleviate the requirement for supplemental timecards 
to calculate FLSA pay. 

Payroll 9 Low Moderate Timekeeping 

Implement random reviews of 
schedules and 
timekeeping 

Pending ERP System.  It is anticipated that the new 
HR/Payroll system will create efficiencies in a currently 
cumbersome process that will allow for random audits to 
be conducted.  

Revenue and 
Cash 15 Low Moderate Cash handling 

After cash handling audit, 
analyze need for separate 
cash tills Pending Review.   

Purchasing and 
A/P 8  Low Low Refunds  

Perform process improvement 
and documentation 

Nearing Completion.  Validated: Policy is included in 
the Purchasing Card AI, Billing & Collections, and in the 
A/P Manual. Staff is working with the Resource Recovery 
and Recycling Division to strengthen the waste deposit 
refunding process. 

       



  October 18, 2016 
 

6 
 

INTERNAL AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS TRACKING 
CONTROL 

OBJECTIVE # LIKELIHOOD  IMPACT SUBJECT  ACTION STATUS 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS THAT REQUIRE DOCUMENTATION OF POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 
CONTROL 

OBJECTIVE # LIKELIHOOD  IMPACT SUBJECT  ACTION STATUS 
Revenue and 
Cash 1 High High 

Counting 
Room 

Develop policy for visitor 
access Completed.  This has been addressed above.  

Citywide and 
Departmental 
Policies 1 High Moderate 

Administrative 
Instructions Update and revise 

Nearing Completion. A full set of Finance policies and 
procedures have been updated and are in the process of 
being validated by the Internal Auditor. Staff is continuing 
to update financial Administrative Instructions.  The 
process should be completed within the next six months.  

Payroll 7 Moderate Low 
Timekeeping 
Review 

Develop policy and provide 
training 

Completed.  Payroll procedures manual has been 
completed.  Relevant portions of the policy are highlighted 
in the supervisors’ handbook (September 2016).  

Payroll 10 Low Low Payroll Document internal procedures 
Completed.  Payroll procedures manual has been 
completed.   

Citywide and 
Departmental 
Policies 2 Low Low 

Department 
Procedures 

Develop and document 
procedures 

Nearing Completion. A full set of updated Finance 
policies and procedures has been completed and is 
currently being validated by the Internal Auditor. Staff is 
working to update financial Administrative Instructions as 
part of this effort.   90 staff members attended a year-end 
financial presentation held by Procurement, Financial 
Reporting, Revenue, Accounts Payable, Capital Program 
and Grants Management.  

       
RECOMMENDATIONS THAT REQUIRE TRAINING 

CONTROL 
OBJECTIVE # LIKELIHOOD  IMPACT SUBJECT  ACTION STATUS 

Purchasing and 
A/P 1 High High 

A/P review 
and approval 

Conduct training for A/P staff 
(in departments) 

Completed.  User training completed in October and 
November included 52 participants. User Training Guide is 
completed but always being updated. 

Training 2 Low Low Fiscal training 
Assess gaps and update 
training 

Completed.  Council adopted the City’s Code of Ethics on 
November 24, 2015 and the Administrative Instruction 
was distributed in July 2016. Finance continues to add 
fiscal training sessions for citywide staff.  Additional 
training will be conducted once policies and procedures are 
completed. 

RECOMMENDATIONS THE REQUIRE CHANGES TO CURRENT TECHNOLOGY 
CONTROL 

OBJECTIVE # LIKELIHOOD  IMPACT SUBJECT  ACTION STATUS 
Revenue and 
Cash 

11 
 

Moderate 
 

Moderate 
 

Point of Sale 
(POS) 

Explore POS features and 
develop plan for 

Pending ERP System. 
 



  October 18, 2016 
 

7 
 

INTERNAL AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS TRACKING 
CONTROL 

OBJECTIVE # LIKELIHOOD  IMPACT SUBJECT  ACTION STATUS 
  comprehensive deployment 

 
 
 

Payroll 9 Low Moderate Scheduling 
Explore additional Kronos 
capabilities 

Continuing. City is exploring cost/benefit of advancing 
scheduling components within current electronic 
timekeeping system.  

 

   



  October 18, 2016 
 

8 
 

 

RELATED TO INTERNAL INITIATIVES ALREADY UNDER DEVELOPMENT 

NEW ERP SYSTEM 

Payroll (2) – Employee pay rates are accurate (cross training HR staff) 
(response above) 

Payroll (3) – City Attorney on Kronos 
(response above) 

Payroll (5) – FLSA monitoring / process  
(response above) 

Payroll (8) – Manual payroll process – update with ERP and build in checks 
for current manual system.   
Partially completed- checks for current manual system are implemented. 

Accounts Receivable (1) – A/R systems: address through new ERP system 
and billings / collections procedures 
(response above) 

 

  

TRAINING ACADEMY 

Payroll (4) – Overtime approval and documentation.  Include in supervisor 
handbook. 
(response above) 

Payroll (6) – Timekeeping review / responsibilities.  Included in Payroll 
policies and procedures.  Will include in supervisor handbook. 
(response above) 

Payroll (7) – Supervisor role in FLSA, other labor laws (overtime eligibility, 
etc.).  Will include in supervisor handbook.  Overtime procedures included in 
Payroll policies and procedures.  
(response above) 

Training (1) – Waste, abuse, fraud, abuse training.  Will engage auditors to 
provide short training / video to supervisors during supervisor training.  
Ethics policy in development.  
(response above)  

  



Agenda Item 7b: 

 

Supervisor Handbook 



Contacts 

Timecards and Payroll    8260 

Payments (Accounts Payable)   8258 

Travel and Mileage (Accounts Payable)  8258 

Procurement     8242 

Surplus Property    2211 

Purchasing Card                    8797 

Cash and Checks                    8741 

Billing and Collections    8510 

Grants Management (Imelda de Leon)  8265 

More Info 

1717 4th Street Suite 250 

Santa Monica, CA 90401 

Phone: (310) 458-8281 

Email: finance.mailbox@smgov.net 

Web: www.finance.smgov.net | desktop.private/finance/ 

 

Finance Department  
1717 4th Street Suite 250 
Santa Monica, CA 90401 

  

   

Supervisor 
Handbook 

 

What am I 
signing?? 

 

 

 

FINANCE DEPARTMENT  

   CITY OF SANTA MONICA, CA                 SEPT. 2016 

 

 

http://www.finance.smgov.net/
file://///CSMFS1/Finance/Administration/Share/Presentations/Other/Working%20Files/Internal%20Audit/Supervisor%20Training/desktop.private/finance/


Table of Contents 

Timecards ........................................................................................................................... 2 

Travel & Mileage Reimbursements ......................................................................... 3 

Purchasing Card Statements ...................................................................................... 3 

Payments in JDE One World ....................................................................................... 4 

Requisitions in JDE One World .................................................................................. 5 

Disposing of City Property …………………………………………………………… …5 

Cash and Checks…………….. …………………………………………………………….…6 

Billing and Collections……. …………………………………………………………….…6 

Employees……………………... ………………………………………………………………6 

Resources & Contacts……... ………………………………………………………………7 

  

What am I signing?? 

You have a fiduciary duty! 

 
 

As a supervisor, you have a fiduciary duty.  In 

other words, you are responsible for making 

sure your staff spends City funds appropriately!  

While this responsibility is important to 

remember while you oversee staff, it’s 

especially important to recognize that you 

assume this duty every time you sign 

something as a supervisor. 

We are here to help! 

 
 

Finance staff has put together some 

reminders of questions you should 

consider before you approve or sign off 

on various items throughout the day. 

Find Financial Resources! 

 
 

Our people are always available to answer 

your questions.   

The Finance related administrative 

instructions and manuals and other 

guidelines are available at any time to 

explain processes and rules. 

 

   1 
 



Timecards  

 Did the employee work the hours they said they worked? 

 Do the hours match what’s on my scheduling system? (if you 

have one) 

 Have I verified that full-time employees have accounted for 80 

base hours or that my permanent part-time employees have 

accounted for the number of hours required for their FTE? 

 Is my as-needed staff about to go over their limit? (960 hrs/FY 

for PERS and 1,456 hrs/lookback yr for ACA-no more than 

average of 28 hrs per week) 

 Did staff actually work the overtime they said they worked?  Did 

I preapprove the overtime? 

 Are all hours after the employee’s budgeted hours per week 

marked as overtime if the employee is not exempt (i.e., position 

is within the IBT, SMART TD, or MEA bargaining units)?  This 

would be any hours over 40 for a full time employee; and any 

hours over budgeted amount for a part-time employee.   

 Are overtime hours marked correctly as OT (time and a half) or 

OTS (overtime at straight time)  

 Does every employee have access to the timecard system and 

filling out their own timecard? 

 Timecard sign offs are due at noon on Monday of a payroll 

week, have you signed them off? 

 Have your multiple job employees (employees with more than 

one active job, if any) filled out manual timecards?  (Their hours 

should not entered in Kronos). 

 If an employee has been out on sick leave for longer than two 

weeks, have you signed them up for FMLA using a Form 100? 

 

  

Travel & Mileage Reimbursements 

 Was the travel and meeting pre-approved? 

 Is staff following the per diem policy for meals? 

 Are all of the travel and meeting itemized receipts attached?  

 Is mileage (if driving) justified with an online map tool such as 

Google maps? 

 Does the travel reimbursement request comply with all the 

requirements of the Travel Policy AI?  

 

Purchasing Card Statements 

 Are the charges for the purchase of City goods? 

 Do you know what the purchases are for?  If not, ask for more 

information! 

 Are the charges accurate? 

 Was the purchase reasonable? 

 Are the receipts available for all purchases? 

 If there is a Square or Paypal charge, do you have receipts for 

the goods that were purchased? 

 Do you know who is using the purchasing card?  Is someone in 

charge of keeping a log of users and receipts? Have all users 

signed the card user agreement? 

 Should the purchase be bid competitively and handled through 

the procurement process in the future? (for example, repetitive 

purchase or over $10,000 to a single vendor) 

 Are you aware of what purchases are / are not allowable on 

purchasing cards? 

 If there are food purchases, do they follow the related Food 

Purchases or Travel Policy Reimbursement AIs? 

 

 

 

 

2   3 
 

Find a full Payroll Manual on 

Finance eDesk! 

See the Travel Policy and Mileage 

Reimbursement Admin Instructions for 

more info 

See the Purchasing Card Admin 

Instruction for more info 



Payments in JDE One World 

 Do you know who has authority to sign off on JDE payments 

that are under your authority level? 

 Do you know exactly what the payment is for?  Is it for 

something that the City is directly responsible for? 

 If you are reimbursing an employee, did you preapprove the 

expenditure? 

 Do you have an original copy of the vendor invoice and any 

backup documents, and everything matches?  If not, ask why. 

 Does the request look too similar to previously approved 

requests?   

 Have you confirmed that the goods or services were received? 

 If it’s under $10,000… 

 Does it seem reasonable? 

 Is this a product or service you order regularly? If you put all 

expenses together for the same product or service, would it be 

over $10,000 in a year?  If so, you need to bid- you can get it for 

a lower cost. 

 If it’s a payment off a purchase order or contract… 

 Do the rates charged match what’s on the agreement? 

 Is the date of service accurate? 

 If the payment is for a contractor, are you sure that the 

contractor is not also working for the City as an employee? 

 Are food purchases following the Food Purchase AI? 

 

  

Making Orders for Goods and Services 

(Requisitions) in JDE One World 

 How much is the request for?  Do I have to get quotes? Does it 

require Council authority? 

 Does it require special approvals? ISD, OSE, Risk?  

 Is it for ongoing services?  Does the vendor need insurance? Is it 

Living or Prevailing Wage? 

 Has the service been approved to be contracted out? 

 Is it a contractual and professional service?  

 What are the required documents in order to do business with 

this vendor? 

 Does it require additional budget? 

 Is this purchase an exception to the competitive process? Why? 

Disposing of City Property 

 We have an Administrative Instruction for this – please check it! 

 

 

4   5 
 

See the Purchasing 

Admin Instruction for 

more info 



Cash and Checks 

 Did I verify the deposit amount when I signed off on it? 

 Are cash and checks always kept in a secure location (e.g. locked 

cash drawer or safe? 

 Is someone logging all checks/cash received? 

 Are all checks being deposited to Finance or sent to the bank on 

a timely basis?  Did staff accurately book cash and check 

receipts in JDE on the day received? 

 Does my staff have a “for deposit only” endorsement stamp, 

used for all checks? 

 Are passes, permits, tickets, parking validation cards locked up 

at all times? 

 Am I making sure my staff reconciles cash received to the 

appropriate system (i.e. POS, JDE, other third-party software)?  

Billing and Collections 

 Do we have procedures to record auxiliary billing system 

activity into JDE? 

 Am I requiring staff to reconcile auxiliary systems to JDE? 

 Are staff producing and reviewing monthly aged receivables 

reports to determine collections actions? 

 Have I checked with Billing and Collections staff to make sure 

I’m following the right billing/collections procedures? 

Employees 

 If an employee retires or is terminated, did you take their 

ID/keycard, purchasing card (if they had one), City-issued 

phone or radio, keys, tablet/laptop, etc. upon their departure?  

 Did you let ISD, HR and Finance know?  Has the form 100 been 

completed and sent to HR? 

  

More Info!! 

Administrative Instructions 

 
 

 Mileage reimbursement 

 Travel Policy 

 Food purchases  

 Procurement 

 Purchasing Card 

 Petty Cash 

 Disposal of Surplus Property 

 Grants Management 

 Cash Handling coming soon 

 

Manuals and Guides on Finance eDesk 

 
 

 Procurement Guides 

 Accounts Payable User Manual 

 Payroll Manual 

 

6   7 
 



Agenda Item 8: 

 

City of Santa Monica Internal Audit Status Report ‐ 

Moss Adams 10‐18‐16 



 

City of Santa Monica Internal Audit Status Report – Moss Adams 10-18-16  |  1  

Date:  October 18, 2016 

To: City of Santa Monica Audit Subcommittee 

From:  Mark Steranka 

Subject:  Internal Audit Status Report September 1, 2016 through October 15, 2016 
 
 
Ambulance Billing Review: 

• Schedule: November 1, 2015 through October 15, 2016.  
• Activities for This Period: Finalized findings and recommendations and prepared draft and 

final reports. 
• Activities for Next Period: none  
• Issues: none 

 
Benefits Billing and Reconciliation Review: 

• Schedule: January 1, 2016 through October 30, 2016.  
• Activities for This Period: Prepared draft findings and recommendations. 
• Activities for Next Period: Review findings and recommendations with City and prepare draft 

and final reports.  
• Issues: none 

 
Cash Handling Review 

• Schedule: July 1, 2016 through November 30, 2016.  
• Activities for This Period: Completed onsite cash audits and provided briefings to key 

departmental management.  
• Activities for Next Period: Prepare draft and final reports.  
• Issues: none 

 
Enterprise Risk Assessment: 

• Schedule: August 1, 2016 through November 30, 2016.  
• Activities for This Period: Scheduled and conducted interviews and requested and reviewed 

documents.  
• Activities for Next Period: Conduct remaining interviews, review additional documents, 

evaluate risks, and prepare draft and final reports.  
• Issues: none 

 



 

City of Santa Monica Internal Audit Status Report – Moss Adams 10-18-16  |  2  

Policies and Procedures Validation: 
• Schedule: August 1, 2016 through October 15, 2016.  
• Activities for This Period: Compared policies and procedures to internal controls findings, 

determined which findings could be validated as addressed, and prepared a summary. 
• Activities for Next Period: Continue to monitor policies and procedures to validate additional 

findings when they have been addressed.  
• Issues: none 

 
Supervisor Training: 

• Schedule: September 1, 2016 through September 30, 2016.  
• Activities for This Period: Prepared training materials and delivered training. 
• Activities for Next Period: Possibly conduct a webinar to achieve broader coverage.  
• Issues: none 

 


	October 18, 2016 Agenda
	Agenda Item 3
	Audit 20160419_Final
	Agenda Item 4
	Agenda Item 7a
	Item 7a. City of Santa Monica Ambulance Contract Billing Review - Final Report 10-12-16
	I. OVERVIEW
	A. Background
	Figure 1: Ambulance Call Volume by Year for the City
	Figure 2: Ambulance Revenue to City by Year
	Figure 3: City of Santa Monica’s Ambulance Revenue to Contractor by Year
	Figure 4: Ambulance Rate Schedule

	B. Methodology
	C. SUMMARY OF RESULTS

	II. General RECORDKEEPING
	A. METHODOLOGY
	B. RESULTS, FINDINGS, AND RECOMMENDATIONS

	III. Billing: Core Services
	A. Background
	Figure 5: Ambulance Rates and Associated Revenue Recipients

	B. Fees Payable to the City
	Figure 6: City of Santa Monica – Services and Fees
	Figure 7: City of Santa Monica – Standard Bill Amount

	C. Fees Payable to the Contractor
	Figure 8: Contractor – Services and Fees
	Figure 9: Contractor – Standard Bill Amount
	Figure 10: City and Contractor – Standard Combined Bill Amount

	D. METHODOLOGY
	E. RESULTS, FINDINGS, and RECOMMENDATIONS
	Figure 11: Contractor’s Invoices – Charges Billed
	Figure 12: City Invoices – Charges Billed
	Figure 13: Contractor’s Invoices – Exceptions Noted
	Figure 14: City of Santa Monica Invoices – Exceptions Noted
	Figure 15: New County Rate Schedule Components
	Figure 16: City of Santa Monica Rates and Charges


	IV. Billing: SPECIAL CHARGES
	A. Background
	Pulse Ox
	Oxygen
	Additional Therapies
	Night Calls
	Code 3

	B. Methodology
	C. Results, Findings, and recommendations
	Pulse Oxygen
	Figure 17: City Services Performed, Recorded, and Billed – Pulse Ox
	Figure 18: Pulse Ox Billing Differences
	Oxygen
	Figure 19: Additional Services Performed, Recorded, and Billed – Oxygen
	Additional Therapies
	Figure 20: Additional Therapies Discrepancies
	Figure 21: Potential Financial Impact of Discrepancies
	Night Calls
	Figure 22: Night Calls Billing Impact
	Figure 23: Night Calls Charge Amount
	Code 3
	Mileage
	Figure 24: Mileage Billing Differences
	Figure 25: Mileage Recordkeeping and Billing
	Figure 26: Mileage Billing Difference, Rate Issues


	V. Revenue Collection
	A. Methodology
	B. Results, Findings, and recommendations


	Agenda Item 7b
	Item 7b. AC SMFD Billing Audit Response Letter 10-2016
	Agenda Item 7c
	Item 7c. City of Santa Monica Policy Validation Results 10-10-16
	Agenda Item 8a
	Item 8a. Internal Controls Review Progress Report October 2016
	Agenda Item 8b
	Item 8b. Supervisor Handbook
	Agenda Item 9
	Item 9. City of Santa Monica Internal Audit Status Report - Moss Adams 10-18-16


<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 396.000]
>> setpagedevice




